
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To: Chair & Members of the  
Planning Committee   
 
 
 
Monday 4th March 2024 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

The Arc 
High Street 

Clowne 
S43 4JY 

 
Contact: Hannah Douthwaite 

Telephone: 01246 242473 
Email: hannah.douthwaite@bolsover.gov.uk 

 
 

Dear Councillor 
 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the Planning Committee of the 
Bolsover District Council to be held in the Council Chamber, The Arc, Clowne on 
Wednesday 13th March 2024 at 10:00 hours.  
 
Register of Members' Interests - Members are reminded that a Member must within 
28 days of becoming aware of any changes to their Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
provide written notification to the Authority's Monitoring Officer. 
 
You will find the contents of the agenda itemised on page 3. 
  
Yours faithfully 
 

 
 
Solicitor to the Council & Monitoring Officer  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

1



 

 
 
 

Equalities Statement 
 

Bolsover District Council is committed to equalities as an employer and when 
delivering the services it provides to all sections of the community. 

The Council believes that no person should be treated unfairly and is committed to 
eliminating all forms of discrimination, advancing equality and fostering good 
relations between all groups in society. 
 
 
 

 
Access for All statement 

 
You can request this document or information in another format such as large print 
or language or contact us by: 

 Phone: 01246 242424 

 Email: enquiries@bolsover.gov.uk 

 BSL Video Call: A three-way video call with us and a BSL interpreter. It is 
free to call Bolsover District Council with Sign Solutions, you just need WiFi 
or mobile data to make the video call, or call into one of our Contact Centres.  

 Call with Relay UK - a free phone service provided by BT for anyone who 
has difficulty hearing or speaking. It's a way to have a real-time conversation 
with us by text.  

 Visiting one of our offices at Clowne, Bolsover, Shirebrook and South 
Normanton 

 

2

file:///C:/Users/scotc/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/JPNCTJCX/01246%20242424
mailto:enquiries@bolsover.gov.uk
https://www.relayuk.bt.com/
https://www.bolsover.gov.uk/contact-us


 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
AGENDA 

 
Wednesday, 13th March, 2024 at 10:00 hours taking place in the Council Chamber,  

The Arc, Clowne 
 

Item No. 
 

 Page 
No.(s) 

1.   Apologies For Absence 
 

 

2.   Urgent Items of Business 
 

 

 To note any urgent items of business which the Chairman has 
consented to being considered under the provisions of Section 100(B) 
4(b) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

 

3.   Declarations of Interest 
 

 

 Members should declare the existence and nature of any Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest and Non Statutory Interest as defined by the 
Members’ Code of Conduct in respect of: 
 
a)  any business on the agenda 
b)  any urgent additional items to be considered  
c)  any matters arising out of those items  
and if appropriate, withdraw from the meeting at the relevant time. 
 

 

4.   Minutes 
 

TO FOLLOW 

 To consider the minutes of the last meeting held on 14th February 
2024. 
 

 

 APPLICATIONS TO BE DETERMINED UNDER THE TOWN & 
COUNTRY PLANNING ACTS 
 

 

5.   22/00402/FUL - Full planning application comprising proposed 
link road between Shuttlewood Road and Oxcroft Lane, including 
demolition of Boleappleton Farm and associated outbuildings, 
ground level changes, and construction of 161 dwellings with 
public open spaces, access routes, landscaping and associated 
works - Land South West Of Brockley Wood Oxcroft Lane 
Bolsover 
 

4 - 44 

 REPORTS OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR OF PLANNING AND 
PLANNING POLICY 
 

 

6.   Appeal Decisions: July 2023 - December 2023 
 

45 - 55 

7.   Quarterly Update on S106 Agreement Monitoring 
 

56 - 67 

3



PARISH Old Bolsover Parish 
__________________________________________________________________________ 
 
APPLICATION Full planning application comprising proposed link road between 

Shuttlewood Road and Oxcroft Lane, including demolition of 
Boleappleton Farm and associated outbuildings, ground level changes, 
and construction of 161 dwellings with public open spaces, access 
routes, landscaping and associated works. 

LOCATION  Land South West Of Brockley Wood Oxcroft Lane Bolsover  
APPLICANT  Mr D Abbott 5 Midland Way Barlborough Chesterfield S43 4XA   
APPLICATION NO.  22/00402/FUL          FILE NO.  PP-11437775   
CASE OFFICER   Mr Steve Phillipson  
DATE RECEIVED   4th August 2022   
__________________________________________________________________________ 
 
SUMMARY  
 
The application site is partially outside the settlement framework and so the proposal is 
contrary to the countryside protection policy SS9 of the local plan. However, the application is 
recommended for approval. Therefore, the decision needs to be made by Planning 
Committee.  
 
The application was also called in by Councillor Donna Hales (Bolsover North & Shuttlewood 
ward).  
 
The proposal offers a means to deliver a distributor road to link Shuttlewood Road through the 
site to connect to Oxcroft Lane in accordance with the requirement of local plan policy LC1. A 
goal which otherwise is unlikely to be delivered for the foreseeable future. 
 
The key issue to consider is whether this benefit, together with the other benefits of the 
development, outweighs the harm caused by approving the application contrary to SS9 and 
any other harms with consideration given to issues including:- 
 
• the principle of the development and the link road 
 
• highway safety and the local road network 
 
• the landscape and visual impact of the proposed development 
 
• biodiversity  
 
• design and housing layout  
 
• local infrastructure capacity 
 
• other technical issues: stability; archaeology; drainage; telecom mast; noise 
 
 
 

4

Agenda Item 5



Site Location Plan  
 

 
 

 
 

5



SITE & SURROUNDINGS 
 
The site covers approximately 9 ha of mainly agricultural land at the north side of Bolsover set 
between Oxcroft Lane on the East side and Shuttlewood Road on the West side. The 
application site comprises three agricultural fields separated by hedgerows with occasional 
trees. The derelict Boleappleton Farm is at the west portion of the site and is proposed to be 
demolished and cleared as part of the development. 
 
Existing residential properties of Shuttlewood Road are adjacent to the West, to the South are 
new residential properties of the Jones Homes development site, and to the North and East 
sides is countryside. Brockley Wood (ancient woodland and local wildlife site) and a 20m 
telecom tower are immediately adjacent to the Northeast corner.  
 
The site sits at the top of a valley feature in the landscape with ground levels at the centre 
significantly lower than the East and West sides. Levels also drop to the north with the head 
of Hawke Brook running through the centre of the site in a northly direction. A spur of the red 
line application boundary extends northwards from the main site adjacent to the brook to 
facilitate surface water drainage works. 
 
The site field boundaries are generally hedgerow lined and two hedgerows cross North-South 
through the site with a small group of hedgerow trees on the central hedge line. 
 

 
 
A Public Right of Way crosses the north-western corner of the site (footpath 45). Pedestrian 
access can be gained off Shuttlewood Road into the site and then the footpath extends north. 
The site is flood risk zone 1 (least likely to flood) and Coal Authority low risk zone. 
 

6



BACKGROUND  
 
Only the Southeast third of this application site is allocated for housing in the local plan under 
policy LC1 (the land shown brown below is allocated for housing). The North side of the site is 
unallocated and so within the countryside where new development is normally resisted.  
 

 
 
However, policy LC1 requires, amongst other things, the development to facilitate the 
provision of a distributor road to link Shuttlewood Road through the site to connect to Oxcroft 
Lane. Part of this wider allocation has already been developed under an old approval which 
predated the local plan policy requirement and so that phase of development did not 
ultimately deliver the link road or contribute to its delivery. The two remaining undeveloped 
parts of the allocation would not provide sufficient return to fund the cost of a link road whilst 
also meeting other infrastructure requirements for schools, affordable housing, health etc.  
 
The Applicant has therefore proposed in this application, that in return for granting planning 
permission for additional land in the countryside beyond the north side of the allocation, the 
policy requirement for the link road between Shuttlewood Road and Oxcroft Lane will be 
provided. 
 
It is expected that the developer of the other, as yet undeveloped part of the allocation (to the 
Southwest corner of the allocation), will also contribute finically to the delivery of the link road. 
That part of the site is the subject of a current planning application which is pending a 
decision (23/00463/FUL for the erection of 70 dwellings). 
 
This application (22/00402/FUL) was initially submitted as hybrid application, part full on the 
allocated part of the site, and part outline on the unallocated part. However, insufficient detail 
had been provided to demonstrate that the link road could be provided accounting for the 
significant ground level differences across the site. Therefore, a major revision to the 
application has been agreed to change the nature of the application to a full planning 
application. 

7



PROPOSAL 
 
As amended, this is a full planning application comprising proposed link road between 
Shuttlewood Road and Oxcroft Lane, including the demolition of Boleappleton Farm and 
associated outbuildings, ground level changes, and construction of 161 dwellings with public 
open spaces, access routes, landscaping and associated works. An extract of the proposed 
layout plan is shown below: 
 

 
 
Primary site access will be gained off the Oxcroft Lane, along the eastern site boundary and 
the B6419 Shuttlewood Road, along the western site boundary.  
 
At the proposed access with Shuttlewood Road it is proposed to realign the highway 
carriageway to the east a little to widen the verge on the west side of the Shuttlewood Road. 
This is needed to improve intervisibility around the bend in Shuttlewood Road between a 
vehicle turning right into the site, and a car travelling south down Shuttlewood Road. This is 
shown below. 
 

8



 
 
At the Oxcroft Lane side the footway will be extended from the existing extent of built 
development to the south up to the proposed access point. 
 
The alignment of the proposed link road between the access points responds to the 
topography within the site, and ensures that adoptable gradients are achieved. Currently a 6.5 
metre carriageway is proposed, to ensure appropriate widths for potential access of public 
transport services, as well as 2m footways to provide a safe route for pedestrians. A 3m wide 
cycle track would link to the new development to the south across a public open space. 
 
The route of public footpath 45 would be realigned along an estate road but the 
access/egress point on Shuttlewood Road would be retained along with the alternative option 
to continue along the proposed estate road and then on to Shuttlewood Road.  
 
The ground level changes needed to provide road gradients to standard include cutting levels 
at the top of the East and West sides of the site and partly infilling the valley feature in the 
centre. This means that the central North/South surface water ditch will be culverted and 
ground levels built up in the bottom of the valley. The existing central boundary hedgerow with 
hedgerow trees will be lost as a result although biodiversity mitigation and compensation 
proposals both on and off-site, will achieve a small net gain for biodiversity overall (1.28%). 
 
The proposal includes the erection of 161 dwellings, 16 of which would be affordable (9.9%  
4, two beds and 8 one beds), and 145 market dwellings. 
 
Scale proposed includes 14 single storey bungalows, 33 two and half storey houses (with roof 
space used) and 114 two storey houses.  

9



 
Size of dwellings proposed: 
12 one bed units in total within three small apartment buildings; 
19 two bed; 
55 three bed;  
58 four bed; and  
17 five bed. 
 
The proposal includes large areas of public open space (POS) with access tracks and a cycle 
path across, a play space, SuDS balancing ponds and landscaping. Some parts of the POS 
area will be quite steeply sloping due to the levels works proposed.   
 
The landscaping proposals include tree lined streets on the principal road through, with tree 
planting verges to be maintained in future by a management company, rather than being 
included within the adoptable highway. 
 
AMENDMENTS 
 
This application (22/00402/FUL) was initially submitted as hybrid application, part full on the 
allocated part of the site, and part outline on the unallocated part. However, insufficient detail 
had been provided to demonstrate that the link road could be provided accounting for the 
significant ground level differences across the site. Therefore, a major revision to the 
application has been agreed to change the nature of the application to a full planning 
application. 
 
Various amendments have been agreed during the course of the application to the layout, mix 
of dwellings and landscaping. The number of dwellings proposed has been reduced from 163 
to 161. 
 
HISTORY  
 
15/00076/OUT - Planning permission for 137 dwellings. Land adjacent to the Southwest of 
this site.  
 
22/00141/SCREEN - Request for EIA Screening Opinion under Regulation 6 of the EIA 
Regulations - Proposed Residential Development at Land West of Oxcroft Lane, Bolsover: 
EIA not required 30/03/2022.  
“ Having had regard to the scale and nature of development, the location of the proposals  
and the characteristics of the potential impacts, it is considered that whilst the  
development proposals represent a major residential development there is no evidence to  
suggest that the proposal would have EIA significant effects on (a) population and human  
health, (b) biodiversity, land, soil, water, air or the landscape, or as a result of the  
interaction between these factors.  
Therefore the Council considers that the development proposals do not constitute EIA  
development and so an environmental statement will not be required to accompany any  
planning application submitted for these proposals.” 
 
23/00463/FUL - Erection of 70 dwellings, Land to the South of current application site., West 
of Oxcroft Lane and to North of Mill Lane: Pending consideration. 

10



CONSULTATIONS 
 
ARQIVA 
14/04/2023 No objections (Arqiva is responsible for providing the BBC, ITV and the majority 
of the UK's radio transmission network and is responsible for ensuring the integrity of Re-
Broadcast Links. Consulted due to the proximity of the telecom mast at the north east corner 
of the site). 
 
BDC - Urban Design Officer 
19/02/2024 (comments relating to amended layout plan n2023 008I): No objections subject to 
matters which can be resolved by conditions re:- 

• Provision on additional trees to the apartments car park; 
• Provision of limestone walls to Shuttlewood Road entrance, samples to be agreed; 
• Materials to be agreed (Reduces plots with render facing the countryside including 

plots 71, 73, 76); 
• Additional tree planting within the site. 

Previous responses 26/10/2023. 
 
BDC – Environmental Health Officer 
24/04/2023. No objections subject to conditions regarding:- 

 Implementation of ground remediation strategy prior to commencement. 

 Validation report for remediation. 

 Scheme to minimise dust during demolition and construction. 

 A scheme of sound insulation. 
 
Informative note requested: 
Construction works on the site and deliveries to the site shall be undertaken only between the 
hours of 7.30am to 6pm Monday to Friday and 7.30am to 1pm on Saturday.  There shall be 
no work undertaken on site or deliveries to the site on Sundays or public holidays. 
 
BDC Drainage Engineer 
13/09/2022. No objections. Recommends informative notes/conditions re:- 
An operation and maintenance plan for SuDS should be provided. 
The sewer records do not show any public sewers within the curtilage of the site. 
All proposals regarding drainage will need to comply with Part H of the Building Regulations 
2010. 
It is essential that any work carried out does not detrimentally alter the structure or surface of 
the ground and increase or alter the natural flow of water to cause flooding to neighbouring 
properties. 
 
BDC Leisure Officer 
29/02/2024. Notes that a large amount of open space is included within the proposals. 
As there are currently no equipped play areas within 400m of the proposed development 
(although a play space is due to be provided on the Jones Homes Phase 2 site shortly), an 
equipped play area will be required on site as outlined in Policy ICTR5 [This can be 
conditioned].  
 
The current Planning Layout (drawing no. 008 Rev N) shows a proposed LEAP standard play 

11



area. For a development of this size, this would be the minimum requirement with an activity 
zone of 400m2, although this should ideally be larger given the number of dwellings 
proposed. 
 
A condition is requested setting out the specification required for the play space. 
 
Policy ICTR5 also states that “reasonable financial contributions” will be expected to be made 
to improve green spaces within a defined walking distance. In this case, a contribution is 
requested for improvements to King George’s Field, which is within 800m walking distance of 
the proposed development as well as other areas of green space in the vicinity including 
Bolsover Cemetery, Oxcroft Lane Allotments and Dykes Field. 
 
The level of this commuted sum would need to be negotiated and will depend upon the cost 
of providing an on-site play area, although it is assumed that the cost of a LEAP standard play 
area would be circa £60,000 to £70,000 based on current prices.  
 
The commuted sum in lieu of on-site provision would be £171,304 (161 dwellings x £1,064 
per dwelling). This amount is based on 2023 prices. It is suggested that once the cost of the 
on site play area has been deducted from this amount the remainder would be the 
“reasonable financial contribution” referred to in policy ITCR5. 
 
Playing Pitches: 
Policy ICTR7 of the Local Plan for Bolsover (March 2020): Playing Pitches states that “If 
improvements to existing pitches are needed, new residential development of more than 10 
dwellings will be expected to make financial contributions to the improvement of playing 
pitches and / or their ancillary facilities. 
 
As the proposed development is not of sufficient scale to require any dedicated on site built / 
outdoor sports facilities, it is recommended that a suitable commuted sum is negotiated in lieu 
of any formal on site requirement. Using the current policy formula, the commuted sum would 
be £208,656 (161 dwellings x £1,296 per dwelling). This amount is based on 2023 prices.  
 
Such a commuted sum would be invested in improving playing pitches and their ancillary 
facilities at Moor Lane and Castle Leisure Park and / or other sports facilities within the parish 
including The Oxcroft Centre. 
 
BDC Arts Officer 
Awaited. 
 
BT Radio Network Protection 
27/04/2023. No Objections. 
The project indicated should not cause interference to BT’s current and presently planned 
radio network. 
 
DCC – Highway Authority 
19/02/2024 (comments relating to amended drawing n2023 403 Rev A andTP-0111-P07 as 
amended by the e-mail from DCC of 26/02/2024 omitting suggested highway condition 6). 
 
No objections subject to conditions. 

12



The Highway Authority’s previous consultation responses raised a number of issues in 
connection with the Public Right of Way (PR0W) which runs through the site, street trees and 
the internal layout and in the intervening period a number of discussions have taken place to 
try and resolve the highway issues, which has culminated in the recently submitted revised 
drawings, so from a highways aspect the drawings are now considered acceptable in 
principle. 
 
The Highway Authority would need to approve the appropriate technical approval of the 
proposed street trees and would look for a Management Company to be set up to take on the 
future maintenance requirements. 
 
A S106 obligation should be secured for Travel plan monitoring contribution sum of £1,265 
per annum for 5 years (£6,325). 
 
Conditions are recommended regarding:- 
Provision of access, parking and turning facilities; 
Highway improvement works as per approved plans; 
Details of cycle parking facilities; 
Updated Travel Plan to be submitted for approval; 
Construction management Pan to be approved; 
 
DCC Rights of Way Team 
21/04/2023 (comments relate to the initial version of the full layout). 
Object due to character of the footpath diversion route. 
 
Bolsover Public Footpath No. 45 is directly affected by these proposals. A footpath diversion 
would be necessary. The applicant would need apply to BDC for the requisite diversion. The 
applicant should be advised that an application can be submitted for the diversion of the 
public footpath in advance of planning permission being granted. 
 
Consideration must be given to the proposed alternative line of the path. In planning the 
incorporation of a footpath into a development, preference should be given to the use of 
made-up paths through landscaped or open space areas away from vehicular traffic. For 
approximately half of the length of the part of the path that runs through the development site, 
it is the intention to re route the footpath along the footway adjacent to an access road serving 
a dozen houses. For this reason, the Public Rights of Way Section must object to the 
proposed layout. 
 
DCC also note that the official line of the footpath is already obstructed by the garage of an 
adjacent dwelling. 
 
It is also important to point out that part of the proposed line of the path, north of the housing 
where it runs through open green space, runs along the used line of the path on the ground, 
and not along the legal line. It is important that both alignments remain open and 
unobstructed, but it is also essential that the legal line is shown on layout plans, and that the 
boundary crossing is correctly marked, and provided in the right location. 
 
The proposed new pathways, through the landscaped areas across the site, are welcome. If 
these are to be dedicated as public rights of way, they would be a positive addition to the 

13



network. 
 
Informative notes are also requested regarding procedures associated with the right of way.  
 
DCC Flood Risk Team 
10/08/2023. No objections subject to conditions:- 

• No development until detailed proposals for surface water drainage have been 
approved. 

• Surface water management during construction. 
• Submission of a verification report prior to occupation. 

Informative notes are also provided. 
 
DCC Education and Strategic Infrastructure 
6/07/2023 and earlier response 02/05/2023. 
 
The following S106 contributions are requested to address any worsening of capacity issues 
at local schools created by the additional demands of the residents of the application site:- 
Infant: £39,454.10 for 2 infant places.   
Junior: No contribution request for junior places.  
Secondary: £59,449.94 for 2 secondary places.  
SEND: £119,316.42  for 1.41 SEND places of arising from a development (Special Schools 
as well as Enhanced Resources within mainstream schools). 
 
DCC – Bolsover Library. Stock contribution of £11,400 (i.e. £70.37 per dwelling). 
 
S106 Monitoring Fee of £77 per S106 payment trigger. 
 
DCC – County Archaeologist 
24/04/2023 No objections subject to conditions. 
 
Boleappleton Farm is not assessed for potential built heritage significance in the revised 
heritage statement. It appears on map evidence to be of mid 19th century origin (between 
1835 and 1880), and therefore unlikely to have archaeological value as an early settlement 
core. 
  
The site lies immediately north of another housing site where significant archaeological 
remains including prehistoric, Roman and post-Roman activity including a small group of 
burials were excavated in 2019 in advance of development. Although still in post-excavation 
(the final report is in preparation) the results of this site are regionally important, particularly 
with regard to the organisation and chronology of Roman settlement in the area, and the 
origins and life histories of the late Roman population. Emerging data from the burials and 
evidence for post-Roman continuity could even make a national contribution. 
  
The current proposal site has clear archaeological interest as a potential continuation of its 
neighbour. The applicant has submitted a heritage impact assessment drawing on a 
geophysical survey of the site. This suggests that the site has a similar archaeological 
resource to that previously excavated to the south, namely settlement/field system of 
probable Romano-British date with likely prehistoric elements on a different alignment. These 
remains would have potential to expand and contextualise the story emerging from the 

14



excavations on the neighbouring site, and would be – at least – of regional importance.  
  
There is a requirement under NPPF para 205 for a conditioned scheme of archaeological 
work to investigate and fully record this archaeological resource. This would need to take 
place before commencement of development on the site. The archaeological work would 
involve strip and open area excavation of substantial parts of the site and perhaps all of it.  
 
DCC Strategic Planning Policy 
26/04/2023 and 09/09/2022. No objections but with comments below. Comments relate to the 
initial version of the application which covered the same site but was a hybrid application, part 
full application within the housing allocation, and part outline application for the part of the site 
outside the allocation. 
 
DCC conclude that the planning application site is a sustainable location for housing 
development, where Bolsover is identified at being at the top of the settlement hierarchy, and 
where there is good access a range of services, employment opportunities, facilities and 
public transport. 
 
The norther part of the site is outside any defined settlement limits where countryside policies 
would apply. This part of the application site is not covered by a BDLP housing allocation as 
Phase 1 is and does not accord with open countryside policies of the BDLP, meeting none of 
the exception provisos. 
 
In terms of housing land supply Bolsover has been identified in the BDLP as a suitable 
location for new housing growth. It is considered that the proposal could contribute to 
Bolsover’s housing requirements and for the District generally. A review of the five year 
housing land supply position reveals that the District Council had a greater cumulative 
deliverable supply of housing than the cumulative housing requirement. This factor would 
need to be considered by the District Council when determining this planning application. It is 
considered, however, that the proposal would provide for a natural extension of the housing 
allocation to the south and would provide for a sustainable extension to Bolsover. It is 
recognised that Bolsover is identified in the BDLP as being suitable to accommodate 
significant housing growth and provide additional benefits in providing affordable housing. The 
10% of the total housing proposed on the site to be affordable is welcomed and this accords 
with BDLP policy. The proposal would also benefit the local community and the locality in 
general through the provision of the new access/distributor road. 
 
Derbyshire Wildlife Trust (DWT) 
23/02/2024. No objections subject to S106 obligation for off-site biodiversity compensation 
and planning conditions regarding on-site proposals. 
 
Further to our comments dated 29th June 2023, we are pleased to see that the botanical 
survey was updated and that F1 and F2 have been confirmed as ‘other neutral grassland’. 
We have reviewed the recently submitted Biodiversity Net Gain Report (FPCR, Updated 
January 2024). A net gain of +0.41 habitat units (+1.28%) is predicted to be achieved through 
a combination of onsite and offsite (adjacent land) habitat creation and enhancement. Trading 
rules are satisfied. 
 
The offsite land should be appropriately secured via 106 Agreement, including a requirement 

15



for the submission and approval of a Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan (HMMP) prior 
to commencement of development, along with sufficient funding for management and 
monitoring for a period of at least 30 years. 
 
Roosting bats have been confirmed in Buildings 1, 4 and 5 and therefore a licence will be 
required prior to demolition. All roosts were considered to be of low conservation status and 
are likely to be mitigated for through boxes in dwellings and potentially on retained trees or 
the woodland edge. Update surveys are likely to be required to inform a licence application. 
 
Overall DWT are satisfied with proposals, particularly the inclusion of green corridors within 
the development site and connecting to adjacent development and offsite habitat. Conditions 
are requested re:- 
 

 Bat Licence prior to the demolition of Buildings 1, 4 and 5 [Officer comment: The need 
for a bat licence is covered in separate legislation which should not be duplicated 
under planning powers, therefore a note on the decision notice advising of the legal 
requirement for a bat licence is considered to be a more appropriate alternative]. 

 Nesting Birds. 

 Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) 

 Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan (HMMP) 

 Species Enhancement Plan. 

 Detailed Lighting Strategy. 
 
Eastwoods (Consulting Engineers re Ground Stability) 
21/07/2023 updating their response of 24/04/2023. No objections subject to conditions. 
 
The Stability Report notes that the site is intersected by a valley feature that runs centrally 
through the site. It includes a topographical survey that shows that average slopes on the site 
are around 1 in 11, but there are slopes as steep as 1 in 5 on both sides of the valley feature. 
Within the proposals for the development, the ground levels are being remodelled to 
accommodate the proposed layout of the site. The main consequence of this is that the crest 
of the slope in the central northern area is being brought forward and this will further steepen 
the slope adjacent to the valley to about 1 in 4. The southern part of the valley will be 
backfilled to enable construction of the main spine road of the site. This will slacken the steep 
gradients in this area and will substantially reduce the risk of landslide on the southern part of 
the site. 
A quantitative slope stability assessment was undertaken at various locations in this area to 
check whether the proposed ground slopes are satisfactory. The factor of safety against 
movement of the remodelled slope was assessed to be between 0.869 and 1.0, and the 
report concluded that the proposed ground slopes in the northern part of the site are 
unacceptable without additional stabilisation measures.  
The Stability Report has now been updated with preliminary designs using soil nails to 
stabilise the slope. Two independent preliminary designs have been supplied and these have 
both demonstrated that, with appropriate soil nailing, the ground can be stabilised to achieve 
equilibrium with slopes of up to about 1 in 4.  
The gradients on the site are typically much shallower than 1 in 6. It is only in the central 
valley that slopes are around 1 in 4. On the rest of the site, the slopes are around 1 in 10 at 
which no planning constraints would apply. Since the applicant has demonstrated that in the 

16



central zone the slopes can be made stable with appropriate strengthening, and the risk of 
slope stability failure outside the site would be classed as negligible, we consider that it would 
be appropriate to allow residential development on the site provided that appropriate 
engineering constraints are placed on the site slopes, retaining walls and drainage. 
 
A pre-commencement condition is recommended to require submission and approval of 
detailed engineering drawings showing the provision of appropriate slope stability measures.  
 
Old Bolsover Town Council 
19/05/2023 Object for the following reasons: 

1. The development is outside the housing provision set out in the Local Plan; Policy 
SS4: Strategic Site Allocation - Bolsover North and is contrary to Policy SS2: Scale of 
Development, which has already set out sufficient land to accommodate the delivery of 
dwellings and employment land. 

2. The loss of green space and the impact of these is against Objective I: Green Spaces 
and Green Infrastructure as set out in the Local Plan and contrary to Policy SS9: 
Development in the Countryside. 

3. The impact of the development on residents, including highway safety, with concerns 
raised over the proposed entry road and the diversion of traffic in Shuttlewood and the 
Town Centre. 

4. Increased noise and pollution levels and the potential impact to Public Right of Way 45. 
 
NHS Integrated Care Board (ICB regarding primary care) 
30/05/2023 Request for S106 contribution of £146,880 for GP practice capacity based on 163 
dwellings. 
 
The NHS Derby and Derbyshire Primary Care Estates Strategy has identified this area of 
Bolsover as a high priority, with anticipated short term growth over the next 5 years creating 
capacity issues for the local practice facilities which collectively are fully utilised. The health 
contribution would ideally be invested in enhancing capacity/infrastructure with existing local 
practices. The closest practices to this development, which include the site in their catchment 
area are:- 
• Welbeck Road Medical Centre 
• Castle Street Medical Centre 
• The Friendly Family Surgery 
• Springs Health Centre 
  
[Chesterfield Royal Hospital 
Also, whilst not a consultee, a representation has been received from Chesterfield Royal 
Hospital 20/02/2024 who request a S106 contribution of £212,499 based on the additional 
demands they have calculated on the hospital.] 
 
Peak and Northern Footpath Society 
24/04/2023 Object. 
We object most strongly to the diversion of a section of this footpath onto an estate road as 
indicated on the plan. This flies in the face of central government advice as set out in the 
DEFRA Circular 1/09 which, as the Highway Authority has indicated in their response, 
advises against such a practice. The advice is to route a public right of way through a green 
space segregated from other public highways. The applicant has chosen to ignore this advice 

17



completely.  
Therefore, without changes to this proposal to satisfy this requirement, this Society will 
probably exercise its right to object to any Public Path Order published by the Council to 
achieve this unacceptable diversion. 
 
Police Force Designing Out Crime Officer 
24/05/2023. No issues with the majority of the proposals.  
 
No issues with the main diverted footpath route but suggests that the existing footpath access 
from Shuttlewood be removed now that an alternative is proposed rather than having a route 
between plots 46 and 47.  
 
Boundaries are mostly acceptable. Amendments requested to the position of rear garden 
gates for 2 plots and better surveillance of parking allocation for one plot requested.  
 
Ramblers Association 
23/04/2023, 13/04/2023 and 19/08/2022 Object to the proposals as presented due to our 
perceived failure to fully consider the law and guidelines relating to the RoW Footpath 45 that 
crosses the site. 
 
The Ramblers say that sections of Bolsover FP 45 (part) will be built over, the definitive line 
changed and a natural surface footpath be replaced with a tarmacadam roadside causeway 
and this part of the proposal is contrary to planning guidance. "The authority must be satisfied 
that it is necessary to stop up or divert the way in order for the development to be carried out.  
It is not sufficient that the making of the order would facilitate the carrying out of the 
development.  The order must be necessary in the sense that without the order development 
could not be carried out.” See Rights of Way Guide to Law and Practice.  Considering both 
the plans submitted, The Ramblers are of the view that the changes are simply for monetary 
and or convenience purposes and not strictly essential to the development of the site.  
Considering the above point and the planning guidance that recommends that footpaths 
should not be replaced with roads or roadside causeways the Ramblers offer strong objection 
to the proposal. 
 
Yorkshire Water 
21/04/2023. No objections subject to conditions: 
Separate systems of drainage for foul and surface water. 
No surface water to the public sewer. 
Details of means of disposal of foul water. 
Notes are also advised. 
 
Other 
CPRE Derbyshire 20/04/2023. 
Whilst not a consultee, a representation has been received from The Council for the 
Protection of Rural England on the following grounds: 
Development in countryside beyond the housing allocation in the local plan. 
These additional houses to the plan would be built in open green spaces and would infringe 
the Shuttlewood / Bolsover open break area. 
We cannot see how this part of the application meets any of the exception provisions of the 
open countryside policies of the Bolsover District Local Plan. 

18



Already in excess of the housing supply requirement in the local plan. 
There are no housing allocations proposed for the Shuttlewood village in the 2020 approved 
Bolsover District Local plan, as the aim was to maintain Shuttlewood village in its rural setting 
and maintain its rural village character. 
Significant change to the size of the village. 
Extra traffic causing traffic jams even with the link road through. 
 
Derbyshire Swift Conservation Project 01/06/2023.  
Not a consultee. Requests: 
Provision of internal nest boxes at a rate of 1:1; these be designed for Swifts as a universal 
biodiversity enhancement for declining urban bird species in addition to any external bird 
boxes designed for other species. 
 
PUBLICITY 
 
Advertised in the press and on site and site notices posted. 31 properties consulted. Also a 
re-consultation exercise has been undertaken when the application changed from being a 
part outline/part full application to an entirely full planning application. 
 
1 resident says that they would support the new link road. 
 
36 objections received (plus an additional 6 representations following the re-consultation, 
from people who had already objected following the initial consultation), The majority of 
objections were received from Shuttlewood Road residents. The following issues were 
raised:- 
 
In Principle 
No need for more housing in Bolsover. 
Too much building going on in Bolsover. 
Harm to the character of Bolsover which is being overwhelmed by new development. 
There are other brownfield and more suitable sites that could be identified within the 
provisions of the local plan. 
Cumulative impacts of multiple developments in Bolsover should be considered. 
The regeneration existing affordable housing should be a priority, not building more expensive 
houses. 
Not in accordance with the local plan outside development envelope. 
Does not respect the form, scale and character of the landscape (SS9). 
The infrastructure cannot support further housing/residents - doctors surgeries, dentist, 
schools and policing are already at full capacity, no public toilets.  
Lack of facilities in Shuttlewood e.g. shops and pubs. 
Infrastructure needs to be improved before new development is allowed. 
Loss of agricultural land. 
Loss of green space. 
Loss of green fields. 
The link road will divert traffic from the town centre adversely impacting local retail businesses 
which are already suffering from the closure of the co-op. 
 
Highway Impacts 
The site exit onto Shuttlewood Road is at an extremely dangerous corner at the crown of a 

19



blind bend. It has an accident history. 
If permitted, traffic control during construction and after development will be required to make 
exit safe; a roundabout has also been suggested. 
In winter a small amount of snow brings the hill to a stop causing chaos. 
Shuttlewood Road has pavement on one side only. 
More traffic on Oxcroft Lane. There has already been a significant increase in traffic along 
there and the road is becoming hazardous to its users. 
Oxcroft Lane is a narrow country lane. 
Suggests that Oxcroft Lane North of the site becomes access only - no through road. 
More traffic going through Shuttlewood. 
Shuttlewood crossroads junction is a slalom. 
Impact on highway safety. 
Speeding Shuttlewood Road. 
Congestion. 
Double parking. 
No lollipop lady/man for school crossing. 
A link road would be used as a rat run by all the houses being built on Oxcroft Lane and 
Welbeck Road. 
The proposed link road will only add to the existing traffic problems in Bolsover. 
Link Road won’t improve traffic through the town as no improvements are proposed to 
junction of Shuttlewood Road and the A632. 
Suggests improving Mill Lane instead. 
Lack of cycle Lanes. 
Construction traffic disturbance. 
The mitigation proposals set out in the Travel Plan won’t work. 
The Council should concentrate on improving traffic flows and parking in the town centre to 
encourage visitors. 
Adverse effect on public right of way. 
 
Impact on Ecology 
Loss of habitat 
Impact on Wildlife. 
Impact on species including bats, birds, owls, Skylark and Yellowhammer, hares, snakes, 
Loss of Bat roost on site.  
The loss of hedgerows should not be permitted - replacement hedgerows do not provide the 
same ecological value. 
Adjacent to Brockley Wood ancient woodland and local wildlife site. 
The site is part of a green corridor for wildlife. 
Impact of light pollution on wildlife. 
Disturbance to wildlife during construction. 
Loss of trees 
Loss of trees and disturbance of soil removes a carbon sink affecting climate change. 
Impact on trees in Brockley Wood. 
 
Other 
More litter and waste. 
More pollution and traffic fumes. 
Archaeology yet to be explored. 
There are geological faults on the land so not suitable for building. 

20



Bole Appleton Farm is part of the Heritage of this area and should be restored not 
demolished. 
The Oxcroft Estate itself has just been granted conservation status (Ref 23/00272) and this 
proposed development would have a detrimental effect on that status. 
Light pollution. 
Noise and dust during construction. 
Noise from occupation of dwellings and traffic. 
Impact on health. 
Loss of green space affecting wellbeing. 
Antisocial behaviour on the open space areas. 
Increased access for burglars. 
Loss of green belt land [Officer comment: Note this is not correct] 
Within a zone of potential instability. 
Impact on landscape character. 
 
POLICY 
 
Local Plan for Bolsover District (“the adopted Local Plan”) 
Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in accordance 
with policies in the adopted Local Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In 
this case, the most relevant Local Plan policies include: 
SS1: Sustainable Development; 
SS2: Scale of Development; 
SS3: Spatial Strategy and Distribution of Development; 
SS9: Development in the Countryside; 
SC1: Development within the Development Envelope; 
SC2: Sustainable Design and Construction; 
SC3: High Quality Development; 
SC7: Flood Risk; 
SC8: Landscape Character; 
SC9: Biodiversity and Geodiversity; 
SC10: Trees, Woodland and Hedgerows; 
SC11: Environmental Quality (Amenity); 
SC14: Contaminated and unstable Land; 
SC18: Scheduled Monuments and Archaeology; 
LC1: Housing Allocations; 
LC2: Affordable Housing Through Market Housing; 
LC3: Type and Mix of Housing; 
ITCR3: Protection of Footpaths and Bridleways; 
ITCR5: Green Space and Play Provision; 
ITCR7: Playing Pitches; 
ITCR10: Supporting Sustainable Travel Patterns; 
ITCR11: Parking Provision; 
II1: Plan Delivery and the Role of Developer Contributions. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (“the NPPF”) 
The National Planning Policy Framework sets out the Government’s planning policies for 
England and how these should be applied. The Framework is therefore a material 
consideration in the determination of this application and policies in the Framework most 

21



relevant to this application include:  

 Chapter 2: - Achieving sustainable development. 

 Paragraphs 7 - 10: Achieving sustainable development. 

 Paragraphs 47 - 50: Determining applications. 

 Paragraphs 55 - 58: Planning conditions and obligations. 

 Paragraphs 96 - 107: Promoting healthy and safe communities. 

 Paragraphs 108 - 117: Promoting sustainable transport. 

 Paragraphs 123 - 127: Making effective use of land. 

 Paragraphs 131 – 136: Achieving well-designed and beautiful places. 

 Paragraph 157, 159 and 162: Meeting the challenge of climate change.  

 Paragraph 165 - 175: Planning and Flood Risk. 

 Paragraphs 189 - 194: Ground conditions and pollution. 

 Paragraphs 200 - 214: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment. 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents 
Successful Places: A Guide to Sustainable Housing Layout and Design, Adopted 2013: 
The purpose of the Successful Places guide is to promote and achieve high quality residential 
development within the District by providing practical advice to all those involved in the 
design, planning and development of housing schemes. The guide is applicable to all new 
proposals for residential development, including mixed-use schemes that include an element 
of housing. 
 
ASSESSMENT 
 
Key issues  
It is considered that the key issues in the determination of this application are: 

• the principle of the development and the link road 
• highway safety and the local road network 
• the landscape and visual impact of the proposed development 
• biodiversity  
• design and housing layout  
• local infrastructure capacity 
• other technical issues: stability; archaeology; drainage; telecom mast; noise 

 
These issues are addressed in turn in the following sections of this report.  
 
The Principle of Development  
This application site is partially within the settlement envelope and allocated for housing under 
policy LC1 of the local plan. Policy SC1: Development within the Development Envelope 
presumes in favour of proposed development within defined settlement limits subject to 
several criteria i.e. its appropriateness in scale, design and location to the character and 
function of the area, its compatibility with existing or intended land uses and its environmental 
impact. As such this element of the proposal is considered acceptable in principle and 
accords with local plan policy subject to further assessment of the impacts. 
 
However, the northern two thirds of the site is outside any defined settlement limits where 
countryside protection policies apply SS9. This part of the application site is not covered by a 
housing allocation, and it does not accord with open countryside policies meeting none of the 

22



exception provisos. 
 

 
 
Policy SS9: Development in the Countryside of the local plan presumes against development 
outside development limits. There are exceptions such as where the proposal entails the use 
of previously developed land, is needed for agriculture/horticulture/forestry, is for small scale 
employment uses related to local farming/forestry/ recreation/ tourism, secures the retention/ 
enhancement of a community facility etc. The proposed development does not meet any of 
the exceptions in Policy SS9 and as such does not accord with the requirements of this local 
plan policy. 
 
Bolsover has, at least, been identified in the local plan Policy SS3: Spatial Strategy and 
Distribution of Development, as a suitable location for new sustainable housing growth. SS3 
seeks to direct development primarily to the small towns of Bolsover and Shirebrook and 
emerging towns of South Normanton and Clowne.  
 
The application site is located approximately 1.5 km to the north of Bolsover town centre 
which benefits from a wide range of services, facilities, and employment opportunities. It is 
considered that the application site occupies a sustainable location for residential 
development, with good access to the range of services, facilities, and employment 
opportunities available within Bolsover that also applies to the housing allocation to the south. 
There are regular local bus services providing links to Bolsover, Mansfield, Sheffield, Halfway 
and Markham Vale. The proposal therefore performs well against the criteria of policy 
SS1:Sustainable Development.  
 
It is thus clear that Bolsover has been identified in the local plan as a suitable location to 
accommodate sustainable housing growth and that the proposed development could 
contribute significantly to the housing requirements for Bolsover and for the wider District as a 
whole. The site could be considered to provide for a natural extension of the housing 
allocation to the south. 
 

23



However, in terms of housing supply the Council has identified approximately 9 years housing 
supply and so there is no overriding need at this time to release additional land for housing in 
order to achieve a 5-year housing supply. 
 
The main argument put forward in the application as the reason why planning permission 
should be granted, is that the application will deliver a distributor link road between 
Shuttlewood Road and Oxcroft Lane. 
 
Policy LC1(c) (Housing Allocations) allocates Land between Shuttlewood Road and Oxcroft 
Lane (see land shown brown above) as housing land but the allocation is subject to the 
requirement that it will contribute to schools; provide green space; provide 10% affordable 
housing; contribute to cycling and walking; and criterion (a) requires: 
 
“Facilitate the provision of a distributor road link to Shuttlewood Road through the site and 
connect to Oxcroft Lane, so increasing the capacity and traffic flow of the local highway 
network” 
 
It was hoped that a link would have been delivered from the earlier phase of development on 
the adjacent site (Now known as the Jones Homes phase 2 site). That earlier phase was 
granted planning permission in accordance with the NPPF at a time when that site was 
unallocated and in the countryside because the Council did not then have a 5- year supply of 
housing. There were no Highway Authority objections to justify refusal of that permission 
although it was recognised that the road system is restricted in all directions in the vicinity of 
the site. Increased traffic through Mill Lane (single width, lacking footways, restricted junction 
visibility) was a particular concern to the District Council as well as increased traffic travelling 
north on Oxcroft Lane (single width country lane). A new road link between Oxcroft Lane and 
Shuttlewood Road was seen as a means of mitigating the impacts and at the same time 
releasing capacity at the town end junction, A632/Shuttlewood Road junction and improving 
capacity and connectivity for Bolsover in general. 
 
No planning policy was in place to require a link road at the time but a S106 obligation did 
require the Applicant (Akroyd and Abbot) to use “reasonable endeavours” to provide a link. 
Unfortunately, this did not produce results and the access point (Boleappleton Farm) was sold 
to a third party. 
 
Now that there is a planning policy in place requiring a road link, the Council is in a stronger 
position to require its provision. However, the remaining undeveloped parts of the allocation 
(approximately 110 dwellings over the two undeveloped parcels of land) would not produce 
sufficient returns to fund the delivery of the link road. Furthermore, compulsory purchase of at 
least one and probably 2 existing dwellings on Shuttlewood Road would be required. Given 
that there are no funds in place to for the Council to assist with the link road there is no 
realistic prospect of its delivery in the foreseeable future. The best that could be achieved 
within the limitations of the allocated land is to ensure that any layout which is approved 
would not preclude a road link in future. i.e. a road stub would end at the western boundary of 
the allocation adjacent to Shuttlewood Road where a future link might be provided one day if 
funding allows. Regardless of whether a compulsory purchase does or doesn’t take place in 
the future, the risk of compulsory purchase may raise issues of “planning blight” at adjacent 
dwellings and the risk of compensation (although blight is not a material planning 
consideration for this decision). 

24



 
The local plan policy requirement for the road link is supported in the evidence base for the 
local plan. Specifically highlighted in the Aecom Bolsover Town Transport Study 2016 
(commissioned by DCC and BDC). The document reported that the benefits of a link road 
would be ‘two-fold: firstly, it would remove some traffic from the A632 / Shuttlewood Road 
junction (which is sub-standard in terms of alignment and visibility) and, secondly, it would 
also remove traffic from the A632 / Town End / Welbeck Road junction by removing the 
requirement of traffic routeing to Sherwood Lodge (and Oxcroft Lane) from travelling through 
this junction’. 
 
Conclusions on The Principle of Development 
The application site is a sustainable location for housing development, where Bolsover is 
identified at being at the top of the settlement hierarchy, and where there is good access a 
range of services, employment opportunities, facilities and public transport. Therefore, 
although there is no urgent need to release additional land for housing supply at this time, the 
site could be considered for release in future years and it is considered that the transport 
benefits and the means proposed of delivering the LC1 policy requirement for a link road 
could, in principle, be a reason to grant planning permission despite the conflict with 
countryside protection policy SS9. However, Committee Members need to be satisfied that 
the benefits of the delivery of the link road, together with the other benefits of the proposal, 
outweigh the impacts. These are considered in more detail below. 
 
Highway Safety and the Local Road Network 
 
The proposed link road is 6.5m wide which wide enough to accommodate buses in future if 
required. 
 
In terms of highway capacity issues, the benefits of the proposed link road between Oxcroft 
Lane and Shuttlewood Road are summarised above. It is considered that it would remove 
some traffic from the A632 / Shuttlewood Road junction (which is sub-standard in terms of 
alignment and visibility), and remove traffic from the A632 / Town End / Welbeck Road 
junction by removing the requirement of traffic routeing via Oxcroft Lane, Longlands and 
Welbeck Road, and would provide a more acceptable alternative to the use of Mill Lane, 
which is substandard in width, lacks footpaths and has poor junction visibility. It would also 
assist with improving capacity and connectivity for Bolsover in general.  
 
However, the additional dwellings now proposed in the countryside beyond the housing 
allocation (approximately 121) would themselves create additional traffic and this will 
moderate the benefits.  
 
The results of the submitted Transport Assessment modelling are that: 
 “When comparing the 2030 baseline scenarios with and without the link road, the link 
appears to offer notable baseline improvements at the Hill Top / Town End junction and 
Welbeck Road / Town End / Moor Lane signal junction, two of the key town centre junctions, 
due to more efficient traffic flows. When development traffic is considered on top of this base 
scenario with diverted traffic and compared with the 2030 baseline excluding the link road, the 
Welbeck Road signal junction operates with enhanced capacity (thus fully mitigating impacts 
of the development), while the Hill Top / Town End junction sees comparable performance, 
with a very minor increase in RFC of 0.02 in the AM peak, and improved capacity during the 

25



PM peak to offset any minor impacts during the AM period. On this basis, it is considered that 
the link road both improves baseline flows and sufficiently addresses the impact of additional 
development trips. As a result of the diverted flows from the link road and development trips, 
the Longlands / Welbeck Road T-junction does see some very minor impacts, however this 
operates well-within capacity, sees negligible changes in queue lengths and delays (circa one 
PCU and one second respectively during the worst peak), and clear benefits to more sensitive 
junctions as set out above are observed as a result of the link road should this successfully 
divert traffic away from the town centre. 
 
Notwithstanding junction capacity, other benefits are shown including reduced overall trips at 
the Welbeck Road signal junction and Hill Top T-junction turning Town End, and 
subsequently reduced levels of traffic on the Town End link to improve amenity for pedestrian 
and cyclists. The link road also addresses a key local concern in offering a more suitable 
route for bypassing Bolsover Town Centre than Mill Lane, offering opportunities to implement 
measures to further restrict rat-running in future (such as the land safeguarded as part of 
application ref. 21/00306/FUL to stop-up Mill Lane).” [Hexa Consulting 20/10/2023]. 
 
With regard to highway safety, the Applicant has undertaken lengthy discussions with the 
Highway Authority and undertaken site meetings with particular attention to the proposed 
junction of the link road with Shuttlewood Road. There is a sharp bend in the highway 
adjacent to Boleappleton Farm where forward visibility around the bend is restricted by the 
hedgerow on the inside of the bend. This is an issue which has been raised numerous times 
in the public representations made on this application. 
 
The particular concern relates to the intervisibility between a vehicle turning right into the 
junction and a vehicle travelling south along Shuttlewood Road (All other manoeuvres 
comfortably meet visibility splay requirements). However, the Highway Authority has agreed 
that an acceptable standard of visibility can be achieved if a slight realignment of the bend is 
made, moving the road centre away from the hedge and towards the application site, and still 
retaining the existing road width. 

 

26



 
These highway works can be required by condition to meet the standards set out in national 
guidance (Manual for Streets). 
 
With regard to the internal layout proposed, the proposed roads are to adoptable standard 
and are considered to be acceptable subject to conditions as recommended below. Proposed 
car parking provision meets standards. The proposal complies with policy SC3 and ITCR11. 
 
Landscape and Visual Impacts 
 
The main issue to note with this application is that, in order to achieve acceptable road 
gradients, it is necessary to undertake a cut and fill operation on this site effectively filling in 
the valley to the south side of the proposed spine road. To the north side of the spine road 
and between the 2 housing development plateaux, the proposed open space levels would 
then reduce in a dish form and grade back to existing levels 20m before the Brockley Wood 
boundary (to ensure that the ancient woodland tree roots are not affected). The image below 
looks south back from the Northern boundary of the open space. 
 

 

 

27



 
The northern and central runs of housing at its interface with the proposed open space may 
be more exposed in the landscape as a result, although existing and proposed tree planting 
on the north side of the development and within the open space should soft these effects. 
 
The application is supported by a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment which concludes 
that the most sensitive visual receptors would be people using the public footpath but the 
sites landscape character has the ability in which to absorb development of the scale and 
type proposed. 
 
This has been reviewed by the Urban Design Officer who also has landscape assessment 
qualifications. Whilst she does not favour the amount of engineering works and fill to adapt 
the natural landform, she does not think that the overall effect would cause harm to the 
landscape character of the area. Therefore, it is considered that the proposal complies with 
policy SC8 and SS9 of the local plan regarding the landscape and visual impacts of the 
proposal. 
 
Biodiversity 
 
As a result of the significant ground level changes required on this site to achieve road 
gradients it is necessary to remove the internal hedgerows and some trees. However, the 
proposal includes a large area of open space which can accommodate new planting and also 
includes off-site biodiversity enhancement proposals for the adjacent land to the north close 
to Brockley Wood. These proposals have been drafted in consultation with Derbyshire Wildlife 
Trust who have advised that the submitted Biodiversity Net Gain Report shows a net gain of 
+0.41 habitat units (+1.28%) is predicted to be achieved through a combination of onsite and 
offsite (adjacent land) habitat creation and enhancement and that trading rules are satisfied. 
 
The offsite land needs to be appropriately secured via S106 Agreement, including a 
requirement for the submission and approval of a Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan 
(HMMP) prior to commencement of development, along with sufficient funding for 
management and monitoring for a period of at least 30 years. 
 
Overall DWT are satisfied with proposals, particularly the inclusion of green corridors within 
the development site and connecting to adjacent development and offsite habitat. Therefore 
subject to the conditions requested by DWT (but see below) it is considered that there are no 
unacceptable impacts on biodiversity and that adequate mitigation and compensation 
proposals have been agreed to address the harms and that the proposal complies with policy 
SC9 and SC10 in this regard. 
 
Roosting bats have been confirmed in Buildings 1, 4 and 5 to be demolished and therefore a 
licence will be required prior to demolition. DWT advise that all roosts were considered to be 
of low conservation status (i.e. not rare species) and are likely to be mitigated for through 
boxes in dwellings and potentially on retained trees or the woodland edge. Whilst DWT have 
recommended a planning condition that possession of a license be demonstrated prior to 
works, this is a area well protected by other legislation and so in accordance with Government 
Guidance it is not necessary to repeat it in planning conditions. Therefore, an informative note 
to application is considered to be more appropriate to remind the developer of the law 
regarding bats and the need for a licence from Natural England. 

28



Design and Layout 
 
The layout includes a tree lined, east-west central spine road connecting Oxcroft Lane with 
Shuttlewood Road; outward facing perimeter blocks of housing with corner facing units to 
properly address the streets and public spaces; a large central public open space with play 
area  running north-south through the site connecting an open space area on the adjacent 
development; open space to the north side and countryside edge which partially retains the 
existing line of public footpath 45; and peripheral open space fronting Oxcroft Lane behind 
retained hedgerows. 
 
It is considered that there is an appropriate mix of dwelling design size and type with single, 
two and some two and half storey dwellings. The bungalows being concentrated in the area 
adjacent to existing property on Shuttlewood Road. 
 

 
 

 

29



Most property are types houses although there are three small blocks of 4 apartments 
adjacent to the access road at the Shuttlewood Road end of the site which are designed to 
have the appearance of more traditional dwellings. These would contain some of the 
affordable units and are shown in the image below. A natural magnesian limestone boundary 
wall to Shuttlewood Road will be provided to enhance the local character of the street. 
 

 
 

 
 
The garden sizes proposed and space between dwellings for privacy generally complies with 
the Council’s successful places design guide and overall, it is considered that the proposed 
layout and building designs proposed will result in a characterful, policy compliant 
development with a good standard of amenity and open space provision. The Urban Design 

30



Officer does not object subject to conditions. 
 
In terms of connectivity, a 3m wide cycle width link is proposed through the open space to link 
to the development to the south and footpath links will be provided to both frontages to 
connect with existing development. 
 
A more controversial aspect of the proposal relates to the line of footpath 45 and it should be 
noted that DCC Rights of Way, the Ramblers and the Peak and Northern Footpath Society 
object to the application. Although part of the footpath which will pass through the open space 
to the north will be retained on its current alignment, where it passes through the proposed 
development the footpath alignment will need to be diverted (this also needs to be formally 
approved by a separate legal process – a footpath diversion order). The footpath societies 
object because the proposed route of the public right of way does not all pass through a 
green space which is segregated from other public highways. The Ramblers advise that:  
 
“The authority must be satisfied that it is necessary to stop up or divert the way in order for 
the development to be carried out.  It is not sufficient that the making of the order would 
facilitate the carrying out of the development.  The order must be necessary in the sense that 
without the order development could not be carried out.” 
 
Amendments have been sought from the Applicant to improve the route of the footpath 
environment. However, only a minor revision has been included on the amended plan which 
was to provide front gardens to the bungalows on the west side of the estate road with a view 
to providing a “greener” footpath route. See before and after plans below: 
 
        Before                 After 

  
 

31



The officer view on this is that it would be better to have a greener still footpath corridor or 
retain the footpath through open space. However, it is know that viability on this site is tight if 
it is to also deliver the other policy requirements for S106 obligations (schools, affordable 
housing, leisure etc.) and is unlikely to be viable if the existing line of the path is retained 
because there would not be adequate space for development plots in this part fs the site. 
A copy of the definitive map line of the path is shown below: 
 

 
 
There is a lot of open space proposed elsewhere on this site but it is very difficult to swap this 
out by retaining the area of the footpath within open space because that would mean pushing 
the development plateaux for the housing areas closer together. However, that would create 
significant problems in terms of steeper gradients necessary and slope stabilization, which is 
also a constraint to development on this site. On this basis it is considered to be reasonable 
to assume that the diverted line of the path, as proposed, is “necessary” in order for the 
development to be carried out. 
  
Local Infrastructure Capacity and S106 Obligations 
 
Affordable Housing 
The proposal includes approximately 10% on site affordable housing for rent in accordance 
with policy LC2.  
 
This comprised of 12 one bed Welbeck apartments and 4 Holbeck 2 bed houses.  
 
This policy compliant provision can be seen as a benefit of the proposals. 
 

32



 
 

 
 
Off-site Biodiversity Compensation 
(Details as requested by Derbyshire Wildlife Trust above) 
 
Schools 
The following S106 obligations to address any shortfall in school capacity has been requested 
by DCC and agreed by the Applicant. 
 
Infant: £39,454.10 for 2 infant places.   
Junior: No contribution request for junior places.  
Secondary: £59,449.94 for 2 secondary places.  
SEND: £119,316.42  for 1.41 SEND places of arising from a development (Special Schools 
as well as Enhanced Resources within mainstream schools). 
 
Health – Primary Care 
£146,880 for increase to local GP practice(s) with options for funding projects at:- 
• Welbeck Road Medical Centre 
• Castle Street Medical Centre 
• The Friendly Family Surgery 
• Springs Health Centre 
 
Secondary Health 
None. Chesterfield Hospital has submitted a request for £212,499. However, they are not a 
consultee and at this point in time the Council does not have a procedure or supplementary 
guidance that could calculate and justify a reasonable and proportionate contrition. A 

33



contribution would not therefore comply with the Governments CIL Regulations and would not 
be legally enforceable. Therefore, it is considered that a contribution to Chesterfield Hospital 
cannot be required at this time. 
 
Similarly, a contribution for Dentist facilities cannot be secured at this time. 
 
Library 
DCC – Bolsover Library. Stock contribution of £11,400 (i.e. £70.37 per dwelling). 
 
Travel Plan 
Monitoring contribution sum of £1,265 per annum for 5 years (£6,325). 
 
Monitoring Fee 
S106 Monitoring Fee of £77 per S106 payment trigger. 
 
Sport Play and Open Space 
A late consultation response from the Leisure Officer had only just been received at the time 
of writing this report. The response has been sent on to the Applicant for consideration but as 
yet, the Applicant needs time to reach an agreed position. Committee Members will be 
updated on this matter on the late supplementary update report. 
 
However, the contributions requested by the Leisure Officer under policy ITCR5 and ITCR7 of 
the local plan include:- 
 

Quality Improvement to Green Spaces 
The residual sum of £171,304 (161 dwellings x £1,064 per dwelling) minus the cost of 
providing the on-site play space and ancillary equipment, fencing, surfacing and 
pathways to it. The residual sum being for improvements to King George’s Field, 
which is within 800m walking distance of the proposed development, as well as other 
areas of green space in the vicinity including Bolsover Cemetery, Oxcroft Lane 
Allotments and Dykes Field. 
 
Playing Pitch Contribution: 
£208,656 (161 dwellings x £1,296 per dwelling) to be invested in improving playing 
pitches and their ancillary facilities at Moor Lane and Castle Leisure Park and / or 
other sports facilities within the parish including The Oxcroft Centre. 

 
Public Art 
Policy SC3 says that all proposals above 100 dwellings should make provision for new works 
of art. This can be required by planning condition rather than legal obligation because there is 
plenty of room on site within the open space areas to accommodate such provision. 
 
Other Technical Matters 
 
Stability 
The proposal includes reprofiling land with steep slopes in places which may create a risk of 
instability. The steepest slopes are likely to require the implementation of engineered stability 
mitigation and surface water treatment as is recommended by Eastwoods Consulting 
Engineers. Subject to a condition to set out what is required and its implementation and how 

34



this will look, the proposal is considered to be compliant with policy SC14 of the local plan. 
 
Archaeology 
As set out above in the Consultations section of this report, the site has potential to contain 
archaeology of regional importance. Subject to a condition under policy SC18 to ensure that 
any important archaeology is fully investigated and recorded before development 
commences, then archaeology is not considered to be a constraint to development. 
 
Drainage 
Surface water will be slowed by SuDS ponds and holding tanks and then discharged to the 
Brook SC7, SC13. Infiltration will not be possible on parts of this site where it would  increase 
the risk of instability on steeply sloping land. Subject to planning conditions requiring 
submission of the detailed design and associated management and maintenance plan of the 
surface water drainage for the site, amongst other things; the County Council, in their capacity 
as the local lead flood authority, have no objections to the proposals.   
Foul will be to the sewerage system Policy SS6 (k). Consultees have no objections subject to 
conditions. 
 
Telcom Mast 
No objections have been received from relevant consultees regarding interference with or 
emissions from the adjacent telecoms mast. The height of it is sufficient to clear the proposed 
buildings. 
 
Noise 
A suitably worded condition is recommended under policy SC11 by the Environmental Health 
Officer to ensure that any noise from the nearby poultry rearing unit is acceptable and that a 
means of ventilation in summer can be provided to prevent overheating without the need to 
open windows for properties affected. 
 
Comments in representations are noted about noise from the development, particularly during 
construction. This can be mitigated by a construction management plan condition to control 
hours of working along with dust suppression etc. This will be important due to the significant 
earth works required.  
 
Other Matters 
The point made in representations about loss of agricultural land is noted. However the site is 
classed a grade 4 poor quality agricultural land on the Natural England classification map. 
 
The concern raised in representations is noted that the link road will divert traffic from the 
town centre adversely impacting local retail businesses. This is not considered to be a reason 
to not provide better connectivity. It will help to relieve congestion by removing the need to 
travel through the town centre for those who had no intention of shopping at the time. 
 
It is considered that the proposal would not harm the character of The Oxcroft Estate 
conservation area. Boleappleton Farm is not considered to be of listable quality such as to 
require its preservation. 
 
CONCLUSION / PLANNING BALANCE 
 

35



The application site is a sustainable location for housing development, where Bolsover is 
identified at being at the top of the settlement hierarchy, and where there is good access to a 
range of services, employment opportunities, facilities and public transport. Therefore, 
although there is no urgent need to release additional land for housing supply at this time, the 
site could be considered for release in future years and it is considered that the transport 
benefits and the means proposed of delivering the LC1 policy requirement for a link road is a 
reason to grant planning permission despite the conflict with countryside protection policy 
SS9. The benefits of the delivery of the link road, together with the other benefits of the 
proposal, including the provision of affordable houses and the social and economic benefits 
associated with the provision of additional market housing, are considered to outweigh the 
harms and the impacts identified. These can be adequately mitigated by planning conditions 
and legal obligations to address local infrastructure capacity. 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
The current application be APPROVED subject to prior entry into a s.106 legal 
agreement containing the following planning obligations (listed in precis form only):- 
 
Provision and maintenance of off-site biodiversity compensation including a 
requirement for the submission and approval of a Habitat Management and Monitoring 
Plan (HMMP) prior to commencement of development, along with sufficient funding for 
management and monitoring for a period of at least 30 years. 
 

A. Affordable Housing 10% on site – Affordable rent 
 

B. Education: 

 Infant: £39,454.10 for 2 infant places.   

 Secondary: £59,449.94 for 2 secondary places.  

 SEND: £119,316.42  for 1.41 SEND places of arising from a development (Special 
Schools as well as Enhanced Resources within mainstream schools). 

 
C. Library - Stock contribution of £11,400 

 
D. Travel Plan - Monitoring contribution sum of £1,265 per annum for 5 years 

(£6,325). 
 

E. Health £146,880 Local GP practices 
 

F. S106 Monitoring Fee of £77 per S106 payment trigger. 
 

G. Leisure - To be Confirmed following negotiation: 

 Quality Improvement to Green Spaces - The residual sum of £171,304  minus the 
cost of providing the on-site play space. 

 Playing Pitch Contribution- £208,656 
 
AND subject to the following planning conditions (in precis form only with final 
wording and list of conditions to be delegated to the Assistant Director of Planning and 
Planning Policy): 

36



Conditions 
 
1. The development shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this 
permission. 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved drawings and documents unless specifically stated otherwise in the conditions 
below:- 
*Final list of approved plans to be inserted* 
 
3. Nesting Birds 
No stripping, demolition works or vegetation clearance shall take place between 1st March 
and 31st August inclusive, unless preceded by a nesting bird survey undertaken by a 
competent ecologist no more than 48 hours prior to clearance. If nesting birds are present, an 
appropriate exclusion zone must be implemented and monitored until the chicks have 
fledged. No works shall be undertaken within exclusion zones whilst nesting birds are 
present. 
 
4.Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP: Biodiversity)  
No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, vegetation clearance 
and movement of plant, machinery and materials) until a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall reflect the measures set out in Section 
4 the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (FPCR, March 2023) and include the following.  

a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.  

b) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”.  

c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid 
or reduce impacts during construction.  

d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features.  

e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to 
oversee works.  

f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.  

g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly 
competent person.  

h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.  
 
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period 
strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
local planning authority. 
 
5.Archaeology 
“a) No development shall take place until a Written Scheme of Investigation for archaeological 
work has been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in writing, and until 
any pre-start element of the approved scheme has been completed to the written satisfaction 
of the local planning authority.  The scheme shall include an assessment of significance and 

37



research questions; and  
1.         The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording 
2.         The programme for post investigation assessment 
3.         Provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and recording 
4.         Provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the analysis and records of 
the site investigation 
5.         Provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and records of the site 
investigation 
6.         Nomination of a competent person or persons/organization to undertake the works set 
out within the Written Scheme of Investigation"  
  
"b) No development shall take place other than in accordance with the archaeological Written 
Scheme of Investigation approved under condition (a)." 
  
"c) The development shall not be occupied until the site investigation and post investigation 
reporting has been completed in accordance with the programme set out in the 
archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation approved under condition (a) and the 
provision to be made for publication and dissemination of results and archive deposition has 
been secured." 
 
6. Slope Stabilisation Measures 
Prior to the commencement of development, detailed engineering drawings and information 
showing the provision of appropriate slope stability measures for the site shall have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The slope stability 
measures shall accord with the following requirements and shall be implemented as 
approved:- 
 
1. No reduction in ground levels shall be permitted at the bottom of the valley  
2. No increase in ground levels shall be permitted at the crest of the slope.  
3. The slope of any part of the site shall not be steeper than 1 in 6 unless appropriate slope 
stabilisation measures are incorporated.  
4. The slope of parts of the site to be occupied by houses shall not exceed 1 in 10 (or 1 in 8 if 
appropriate land drainage is used) unless other suitable slope stabilisation measures are 
incorporated.  
5. Should there be a need for retaining walls where the ground slopes at more than 1 in 10, 
the maximum retaining wall height shall be 3.0m and there shall be a slope of no steeper than 
1 in 40 for a zone 3.5 times the retained height in front of and behind the retaining wall. This 
zone should not overlap a similar zone from another retaining wall. (That is the width of level 
ground between two retaining walls should be no less than seven times the average of their 
retained heights. This gives an overall slope of 1 in 6.)  
6. Land drainage running perpendicular to the site contours shall be provided where ground 
with a gradient of between 1 in 8 and 1 in 10 is to be developed with housing or roads or 
where any springs are encountered.  
7. Soakaways shall not be used for this development.  
8. No trench more than 1m deep and 10m long shall be dug approximately parallel to the site 
contours in the steeper sections.  
9. No spoil heaps over 1.5m high shall be placed on any part of the slope where the gradient 
measured over a width extending 20m from the stockpile, or each side of it, is steeper than 1 
in 10.  

38



 
7. Surface Water Drainage Details 
“No development shall take place until a detailed design and associated management and 
maintenance plan of the surface water drainage for the site, in accordance with the principles 
outlined within: 
a. Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy prepared by Hexa Consulting Engineers, 
Ref: 600152, Dated 21st March 2023, Revision V06 and “including any No objections in 
principle Conditions Recommended X Objection Recommended 
PUBLIC 
subsequent amendments or updates to those documents as approved by the Flood Risk 
Management Team” 
b. And DEFRA’s Non-statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems (March 
2015), 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.” 
 
8. Surface Water Management During Construction 
“Prior to commencement of the development, the applicant shall submit for approval to the 
LPA details indicating how additional surface water run-off from the site will be avoided during 
the construction phase. The applicant may be required to provide collection, balancing and/or 
settlement systems for these flows. The approved system shall be operating to the 
satisfaction of the LPA, before the commencement of any works, which would lead to 
increased surface water run-off from site during the construction phase.” 
 
9. Surface Water Drainage System Verification Report 
“Prior to the first occupation of the development, a verification report carried out by a qualified 
drainage engineer must be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. This 
must demonstrate that the drainage system has been constructed as per the agreed scheme 
(or detail any minor variations), provide the details of any management company and state 
the national grid reference of any key drainage elements (surface water attenuation 
devices/areas, flow restriction devices and outfalls). 
 
10. Foul Drainage Details 
No development shall take place until details of the proposed means of disposal of foul 
water drainage for the whole site, including details of any balancing works, off-site works 
and phasing of the necessary infrastructure, have been submitted to and approved by the 
local planning authority. If sewage pumping is required from any part of the site, the peak 
pumped foul water discharge must not exceed 6.7 (six point seven) litres per second. 
Furthermore, unless otherwise approved in writing by the local planning authority, no 
buildings shall be occupied or brought into use prior to completion of the approved foul 
drainage works that would service that building. 
 
The site shall be developed with separate systems of drainage for foul and surface water 
on and off site. The separate systems shall extend to the points of discharge to be 
agreed. 
 
11. No piped discharge of surface water from the application site shall take place until works 
to provide a satisfactory outfall, other than the existing local public sewerage, for surface 
water have been completed in accordance with details submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

39



 
12. Ground Contamination 
1 Before the commencement of the development hereby approved: 
  
Works identified in the Remediation Strategy submitted with the application Report ref 
KE/GCB/JRH/47129-003 shall be undertaken in accordance with the scheme in that report. 
The Remediation works shall ensure that the [site] [development] will not qualify as 
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the 
intended use of the land after remediation. 
  
The developer shall give at least 14 days notice to the Local Planning Authority 
(Environmental Health Division) prior to commencing works in connection with the 
remediation scheme. 
  
2 No [dwellings/buildings] hereby approved shall be occupied until: 
  
a) The approved remediation works required by 1 above have been carried out in full in 
compliance with the approved methodology and best practice. 
  
b) If during the construction and/or demolition works associated with the development 
hereby approved any suspected areas of contamination are discovered, then all works shall 
be suspended until the nature and extent of the contamination is assessed and a report 
submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the Local Planning 
Authority shall be notified as soon as is reasonably practicable of the discovery of any 
suspected areas of contamination. The suspect material shall be re-evaluated through the 
process described in the Phase I contaminated land assessment (desk-study) ref [   ] 
submitted with the application and through the process described in 1 above and, 
  
b)    Upon completion of the remediation works required by 1 above a validation report 
prepared by a competent person shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The validation report shall include details of the remediation works and 
Quality Assurance/Quality Control results to show that the works have been carried out in full 
and in accordance with the approved methodology. Details of any validation sampling and 
analysis to show the site has achieved the approved remediation standard, together with the 
necessary waste management documentation shall be included. 
 
13. Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan (HMMP)  
A Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan (HMMP) shall be submitted to, and be approved 
in writing by, the LPA prior to the commencement of the development. This shall identify the 
habitats to be retained, created and / or enhanced on the site and specify the appropriate 
management prescriptions and responsibilities for 30 years from the date of this permission, 
to secure the predicted condition targets, as per the approved biodiversity metric for the 
application. The HMMP shall also set out a monitoring schedule to ensure targets are met 
and remedial actions to take if not. 
 
14. Species Enhancement Plan 
Prior to building works commencing above foundation level, a Species Enhancement Plan 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Approved 
measures shall be implemented in full and maintained thereafter. The Plan shall clearly show 

40



positions, specifications and numbers of features, which will include (but are not limited to) the 
following: 
• universal nest boxes at ratio of 1:1, in line with British Standard 42021:2022 
• owl box(es) in suitable location close to Brockley Wood 
• integrated bat boxes in 30% of dwellings 
• insect bricks in 30% dwellings and / or towers in public open space. 
• fencing gaps 130 mm x 130 mm to maintain connectivity for hedgehogs in all gardens. 
 
15. Lighting 
Prior to the installation of lighting fixtures, a detailed lighting strategy shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the LPA to safeguard bats and other nocturnal wildlife. This should 
provide details of the chosen luminaires, their locations and any mitigating features such as 
dimmers, PIR sensors and timers. Dependent on the scale of proposed lighting, a lux contour 
plan may be required to demonstrate acceptable levels of light spill to any sensitive ecological 
zones/features. Guidelines can be found in Guidance Note 08/23 - Bats and Artificial Lighting 
at Night (BCT and ILP, 2023). Such approved measures will be implemented in full. 
 
16. Street Trees 
Street trees shall be provided and maintained in accordance with a scheme to be submitted to 
an approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
All proposed street trees must be suitable for transport corridors as defined by Trees and 
Design Action Group (TDAG). Details must be provided of what management systems 
are to be included, this includes root protections, watering and ongoing management 
responsibilities and contact details. 
 
17. Landscaping Scheme to submitted for approval and implemented. 
 
18. Maintenance of landscaping scheme. 
 
19. Noise Mitigation 
Prior to the first occupation of plots 1-4, 161, 44-46, 135-141 and 96-102 of the dwellings 
hereby approved a scheme of sound insulation shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
the Local Planning Authority in respect of these plots. The scheme shall be designed 
following the completion of a sound survey undertaken by a competent person. The scheme 
shall take account of the need to provide adequate ventilation, which will be by mechanical 
means where an open window would not achieve the following criteria. Unless agreed with 
the local planning authority the scheme shall be designed to achieve the following criteria with 
the ventilation operating: 
  
Bedrooms                                 30 dB LAeq (15 Minutes) (2300 hrs – 0700 hrs) 
Living/Bedrooms                      35 dB LAeq (15 Minutes) (0700 hrs – 2300 hrs) 
All Other Habitable Rooms 40 dB LAeq (15 Minutes) (0700 hrs – 2300 hrs) 
  
All Habitable Rooms 45 dB LAmax to occur no more than 6 times per night (2300 hrs – 0700 
hrs) 
Any outdoor amenity areas 55 dB LAeq (1 hour) (0700 hrs – 2300 hrs) 
  
The scheme as approved shall be validated by a competent person and a validation report 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to occupation of the 

41



relevant plots. The approved scheme shall be implemented in full and retained thereafter. 
 
Highway Safety 
20. Provision of the Link Road and junctions in accordance with the revised drawings to base 
course level prior to occupation. 
 
21. The Development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until the access, parking 
and turning facilities have been provided as shown on drawing n2023 403 Rev A and 
TP-0111-P07 
 
22. The Development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the highway improvements 
works comprising: 
Works A as shown on drawing DR-0105-P03. 
Works B as shown on drawing DR-0106-P04. 
Have been constructed and completed. 
 
23. No individual dwelling in the Development hereby approved shall not be occupied until 
sheltered, secure and accessible bicycle parking has been provided in accordance with 
details which shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The storage area shall be maintained for this purpose thereafter. 
 
 
24. The Development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until an updated Travel 
Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority that 
promotes sustainable forms of travel to/from the development site. The submitted details shall 
use Modeshift STARS Business (or an alternative that has been agreed by the LPA) to carry 
out this process and shall include mechanisms for monitoring and review over the life of the 
development and timescales for implementation. The approved Travel Plan shall be 
implemented, monitored and reviewed in accordance with the approved details. 
 
25. Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted details of a construction 
management plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the demolition/construction 
period. The plan/statement shall include but not be restricted to: 

• Parking of vehicle of site operatives and visitors (including measures taken to ensure 
satisfactory access and movement for existing occupiers of neighbouring properties 
during construction); 

• Advisory routes for construction traffic; 
• Any temporary access to the site; 
• Locations for loading/unloading and storage of plant, waste and construction materials; 
• Method of preventing mud being carried onto the highway; 
• Arrangements for turning vehicles; 
• Arrangements to receive abnormal loads or unusually large vehicles; 
• Highway Condition survey; 
• Working hours/days for noise generating activities; 
• Methods of dust suppression during demolition and construction; 
• Methods to prevent damage from surface water run-off during construction; 
• Methods of communicating the Construction Management Plan to staff, visitors and 
• neighbouring residents and businesses. 

42



• Complaint recording and contact details of persons responsible for implementing the 
Construction Management Plan. 

 
26. Prior to the occupation of any dwelling a detailed play space scheme shall have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall be 
implemented before any more than 75% of market dwellings have been occupied. The 
scheme shall include:- 
1. Access – all paths leading to the play area shall be tarmac and at least 1.5m wide with 
a gradient of no steeper than 1:12 (ideally 1:20). 
2. There shall be at least 5 pieces of equipment suitable for children up to the age of 12 
years, which should be predominantly metal in construction. 
3. The play area shall be fenced with 2 self-closing gates to restrict access by dogs, with 
sufficient benches and bins (including dog bins) within the play area and surrounding open 
space.    
4. The play area must be located such that it benefits from informal surveillance from 
nearby dwellings and / or pathways, with an adequate buffer zone of at least 20m to the 
nearest dwelling. 
5. Planting should be arranged so that it allows open views into an out of the play area. 
 
27. Notwithstanding the submitted planting/landscape drawings, where the existing hedgerow 
fronting Oxcroft Lane is to be removed at, and to the south of the proposed access point, it 
shall be replaced in the first available planting season, behind the proposed footway by a 
native mix hedgerow planted in a double staggered row at 30 cm centres. Thereafter it shall 
be retained and maintained. 
 
28. External Building materials to be submitted for approval and implemented as approved. 
 
Notes to Applicant including: 
 
Bat Licence 
The demolition of Buildings 1, 4 and 5 must not take place until all necessary update surveys 
have been completed and an appropriate bat licence has been obtained. Confirmation of this 
should be submitted to the LPA. Upon receipt of a licence from Natural England / site 
registration, works shall proceed strictly in accordance with the approved mitigation. Such 
approved mitigation must be implemented in full in accordance with a timetable of works 
included within the licence and followed thereafter. 
 
Right of Way 
Bolsover Public Footpath No. 45 is directly affected by these proposals and so a footpath 
diversion order must be completed before its legal alignment can be affected. 
• The footpath must remain open, unobstructed and on its legal alignment, as shown on 
the attached plan, or on its currently used alignment on the ground.   
• There should be no disturbance to the path surface without prior authorisation from the 
County Council’s Rights of Way Section. 
• Consideration should be given to the safety of members of the public using the path 
during any works. A temporary closure of paths will be permitted on application to DCC where 
the path(s) remain unaffected on completion of the development.  
• There should be no encroachment of the path, and no fencing should be installed 
without consulting the Rights of Way Section.   

43



 
Working Hours 
Further to the above condition requiring a construction management plan to be approved 
which, in turn, requires working hours to be agreed, the Council’s Environmental Health 
Officer has advised that construction works on the site and deliveries to the site must be 
undertaken only between the hours of 07.30am to 6pm Monday to Friday and 7.30am to 1pm 
on Saturday.  There shall be no work undertaken on site or deliveries to the site on Sundays 
or public holidays. 
 
Other Advisory Responses to Note 
DCC Flood Risk Group 10/08/2023. 
DCC Rights of Way 21/04/2023. 
Eastwoods Consulting Engineers 21/07/2023 
Yorkshire Water 21/04/2023 
BDC Drainage Eng 13/09/2022. 
 
Equalities Statement 
 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 places a statutory duty on public authorities in the 
exercise of their functions to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and 
advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it (i.e., “the Public Sector Equality Duty”). 
 
In this case, there is no evidence to suggest that the development proposals would have any 
direct or indirect negative impacts on any person with a protected characteristic or any group 
of people with a shared protected characteristic. 
 
Human Rights Statement 
 
The specific Articles of the European Commission on Human Rights (‘the ECHR’) relevant to 
planning include Article 6 (Right to a fair and public trial within a reasonable time), Article 8 
(Right to respect for private and family life, home and correspondence), Article 14 (Prohibition 
of discrimination) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (Right to peaceful enjoyment of possessions and 
protection of property). 
 
It is considered that assessing the effects that a proposal will have on individuals and 
weighing these against the wider public interest in determining whether development should 
be allowed to proceed is an inherent part of the decision-making process. In carrying out this 
‘balancing exercise’ in the above report, officers are satisfied that the potential for these 
proposals to affect any individual’s (or any group of individuals’) human rights has been 
addressed proportionately and in accordance with the requirements of the ECHR. 
 
 

44



 

 
 
 

 
Bolsover District Council 

 
Meeting of the Planning Committee on 13th March 2024  

 
Appeal Decisions: July 2023 - December 2023 

 
 

 
Classification 
 

 
This report is Public 
 

 
Contact Officer  

 
Karen Wake – Planner  
 

 
 
PURPOSE/SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 

 To report the Planning Service’s performance against the Government’s quality 
of decision making targets. 
 

 To report any issues or lessons learnt from the appeal decisions. 
______________________________________________________________ 

 
REPORT DETAILS 
 
1. Background  
 
1.1 Since November 2016 Local Planning Authorities have been performance 

monitored against their speed and quality of decision making.  Guidance 
produced in 2016 entitled “Improving Planning Performance”, which was updated 
in 2020, set out how their performance was going to be monitored.   

 
1.2 This report relates specifically to the quality of decision making, and it details the 

Council’s most recent appeal decisions – which are the measure for the quality of 
decision making based on the latest guidance.   

 
1.3 The measure used is the percentage of the total number of decisions made by 

the Council on applications that are then subsequently overturned at appeal.  
 

1.4 The percentage threshold on applications for both major and non-major 
development, above which a local planning authority is eligible for designation, is 
10 per cent of an authority’s total number of decisions on applications made 
during the assessment period being overturned at appeal.  

 
1.5 Since January 2019 appeal decisions have been reported to Planning Committee 

every 6 months, as a way of updating members on our ‘qualitative’ performance; 
but also as a way of reflecting on the appeal decisions for ongoing learning and 
improvement.   

45

Agenda Item 6



 

 
2. Information 
 
2.1 During the first appeal monitoring period (January 2019 – June 2019) the council 

won 100% of appeals on major planning applications and 99.6% of appeals on 
non-major applications.  

 
2.2     During the second monitoring period (July 2019 – December 2019) the council 

won 96.5% of appeals on major planning applications and 98.8% of appeals on 
non-major applications.  

 
2.3      During the third monitoring period (January 2020– June 2020) the council had no 

appeals on major planning applications and won 100% of appeals on non-major 
applications.  

 
2.4     During the fourth monitoring period (July 2020 – December 2020) the council had 

only one appeal on a non-major application and this appeal was allowed. 
However, this only equated to only 0.54% of the number of non-major 
applications determined within that period.  

 
2.5     During the fifth monitoring period (January 2021 – June 2021) the council had no 

appeals on major planning applications determined. The council had only two 
appeals on non-major applications, one of which included an application for 
costs. Each of these appeals were allowed. However, this only equated to 0.9% 
of the number of non-major applications determined within that period.  

 
2.6     During the sixth monitoring period (June 2021 – December 2021) the council had 

no appeals on major planning applications determined. The council had only one 
appeal on non-major applications. This appeal was dismissed. The council 
therefore won 100% of the appeals determined within that period and was 
therefore still exceeding its appeal decision targets.  

 
2.7 During the seventh monitoring period (January 2022 – June 2022) the council 

had no appeals on major planning applications determined. The council had two 
appeal decisions on non-major applications. One of these appeals was 
dismissed, the other was allowed. However, this only equated to 0.53% of the 
number of non-major applications determined within that period. 

 
2.8 During the eighth monitoring period (July 2022 – December 2022) the council 

had no appeals on major planning applications determined. The council had 
three appeal decisions on non-major applications. Two appeals were allowed 
and one was dismissed. The council therefore only won 33% of appeals 
determined within this period. However this only equated to 1.14% of the number 
of non-major applications determined within that period.  

 
2.9 During the nineth monitoring period (January 2023 – June 2023) the council has 

had no appeals on major planning applications determined. The council had two 
appeal decisions on non-major applications and both appeals were allowed. 
However this only equated to 1.17% of the number of non-major applications 
determined within that period and the council is therefore still exceeding its 
appeal decision targets.  

 

46



 

2.10 We have now entered the tenth monitoring period (July – December 2023) During 
this period the council had no appeals on major planning applications and three 
appeal decisions on non-major applications. Two of these appeals was dismissed 
and one was allowed. The appeal which was allowed was refused by Planning 
Committee, contrary to the officer recommendation. However, this only equated to 
0.57% of the number of non-major applications determined within that period. 

 
2.11 The council had no appeal decisions against the issue of an enforcement notice. 

The performance of Local Authorities in relation to the outcome of enforcement 
appeals is not being measured in the same way as planning appeals. However it 
is considered useful to report the enforcement appeals within the same time 
period to address any issues or lessons learnt from these appeal decisions. 

 
3. Reasons for Recommendation  
 
3.1 An opportunity for the Council to review and reflect upon the appeal decisions 

received in the last 6 month ensures that the Council is well placed to react to 
any concerns arising about the quality of decisions being taken.   

 
3.2 The lack of appeals against decisions overall indicates that current decision 

making is sound. 
 
3.3     When/if appeals are lost the reporting of decisions provides an opportunity to 

learn from these decisions. 
 
4 Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 An alternative option would be to not publish appeal decisions to members.  It is 

however considered useful to report decisions due to the threat of intervention if 
the council does not meet the nationally set targets.  Members of Planning 
Committee should understand the soundness of decision making and soundness 
of Planning Policies.  

 
4.2 In the latest June 2021 internal audit the process of reporting appeal 

decisions to Planning Committee and reflecting on decisions taken was 
reported.  The process supported the Planning Department achieving 
‘substantial’ reassurance in the latest internal audit of ‘Planning Processes 
and Appeals’.   

_______________________________________________________________ 
 
RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
1. That this 6 monthly report be noted; and  
 
2. Recommend that we continue to report appeal decisions to Planning Committee 

every 6 months. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

47



 

IMPLICATIONS; 
 

Finance and Risk:   Yes☒  No ☐  

Details: 
Costs can be awarded against the council if an appeal is lost and the council has acted 
unreasonably.  The council can be put into special measures if it does not meet its 
targets. 

On behalf of the Section 151 Officer 
 

Legal (including Data Protection):   Yes☒  No ☐  

Details: 
Appeal documents are publicly available to view online. Responsibility for data is 
PINS during the appeal process.  Decisions are open to challenge but only on 
procedural matters. 

On behalf of the Solicitor to the Council 
 

Staffing:  Yes☒  No ☐   

Details: 
This is factored into normal officer workload and if the original application report is 
thorough it reduces the additional work created by a written representations appeal. 
Additional workload is created if the appeal is a hearing or public inquiry. 

 
On behalf of the Head of Paid Service 

 

 
DECISION INFORMATION 
 

Is the decision a Key Decision? 
A Key Decision is an executive decision which has a significant impact 
on two or more District wards or which results in income or expenditure 
to the Council above the following thresholds:  
 
BDC:  

Revenue - £75,000   ☐  Capital - £150,000  ☐ 

NEDDC:  

Revenue - £100,000 ☐  Capital - £250,000  ☐ 

☒ Please indicate which threshold applies 

 

No 

Is the decision subject to Call-In? 
(Only Key Decisions are subject to Call-In)  
 

No 
 

 

District Wards Significantly Affected 
 

None 
 

Consultation: 

Leader / Deputy Leader ☐   Cabinet / Executive ☐ 

SAMT ☐ Relevant Service Manager ☐ 

Members ☐   Public ☐ Other ☐ 

 

 
 
Details: 
 
 

 
 

48



 

DOCUMENT INFORMATION 
 

Appendix 
No 
 

Title 

1. APP/R1010/W/22/331175: Clayton Farm, Green Lane, Stony Houghton, 
NG19 8TR 
 

2. APP/R1010/W/23/3317479: St Bernadettes Catholic Church, 59 High 
Street, Bolsover, Derbyshire S44 6HF 
 

3. APP/R1010/W/23/3320946: Willow Tree Family Farm, Langwith Road, 
Shirebrook, Mansfield, Nottinghamshire NG20 8TF 
 

 
Appendix 1: APP/R1010/W/22/331175: Clayton Farm, Green Lane, Stony Houghton, 
NG19 8TR 
 
The planning application was for a gravel drive to serve a touring caravan park, the 
creation of 5 caravan hard standings, toilet block for 10 tent pitches and dog run area. 
The application was refused. 
 
Main Issues 
The main issues were: 

 Whether the site would be a suitable location taking account of relevant local 
and national policies; including having particular regard to its effect on the 
character and appearance of the area, the proximity of the site to the services 
and facilities visitors would require access to in order meet day-to-day needs, 
and the opportunities that would be available for transport options other than the 
private motor vehicle,  

 The effect on the living conditions of occupiers of existing dwellings within 
proximity of the site, and  

 The effect of the proposed development on wildlife and biodiversity. 
. 
Conclusion  
The Inspector concluded that the proposal would significantly harm the rural character 
and appearance of the area, would have an unacceptable, detrimental effect on the 
living conditions of existing residents, and it had not been demonstrated that protected 
species would be conserved/protected and/or there would be a net gain in biodiversity. 
On this basis the Inspector considered that the proposal did not accord with policies 
SS9, WC3, WC10, S11, SC3, and SC9 of the Local Plan for Bolsover District. The 
Inspector considered the fact that some permitted development rights existing for 
touring caravans and tents and considered the policies in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) but felt that they did not outweigh the harm he had identified. The 
Inspector therefore found no reason to determine the application other than in 
accordance with the development plan. 
 
The appeal was dismissed.  
 
Recommendations 
None 
 

49



 

The decision was made in accordance with Local plan policies. The Inspector agreed 
with the interpretation of these policies and that the Local Plan policies relating to 
development in the countryside and residential amenity are in line with the NPPF. 
 
Appendix 2: APP/R1010/W/23/3317479: St Bernadettes Catholic Church, 59 High 
Street, Bolsover, Derbyshire S44 6HF 
 
The application was for the conversion of St Bernadettes Church into a private dwelling, 
including alterations to the building. The application was refused. 
 
Main Issues 
The main issue for consideration was the effect of the proposed development on the 
character and appearance of the surrounding area, including the Bolsover Conservation 
Area (‘the CA’) and the setting of Non-Designated Heritage Assets (‘NDHAs’). 
 
Conclusion 
The Inspector considered the conversion included substantial alterations to the existing 
building.  These alterations proposed would involve the loss of the asymmetrical roof, 
the row of high-level windows within the side elevation, and the irregularly arranged 
windows within the front elevation which were features that gave the building its 
characteristic design. The alterations included a garage door, Juliet balcony with floor-
to-ceiling windows, anthracite coloured fenestration, modern exterior doors, and full 
height glazing within the front elevation would be incongruous and the Inspector 
considered that, except for the garage door, the alterations would not reflect the local 
context. 
 
The Inspector went on to say that existing building was set behind a stone wall and 
therefore unlike the adjacent buildings, did not abut the back edge of the pavement. 
However, the building was close to the pavement and, together with the stone wall, they 
added to the sense of enclosure along this part of the road. The Inspector considered 
that the proposed demolition of the front façade, part of the side elevation and the porch 
would erode the sense of enclosure by setting the building significantly back from the 
pavement and the proposed hard surfacing to the front and side of the building, 
proposed to be used for parking and turning would detract from the strong enclosure 
along this part of the road. 
 
The Inspector also considered the proposed materials to be used in the conversion 
could result in a pastiche design that could harm the significance of the Conservation 
area. The Inspector accepted that a condition requiring submission of materials for 
approval could be imposed but agreed with the council that the materials should be 
considered prior to determination to ensure they would be acceptable. 
 
For the above reasons, The Inspector concluded that the proposal would detract from 
the character and appearance of the surrounding area, contrary to the requirements of 
Policy SC3 of the Local Plan for Bolsover District which, amongst other things, seeks to 
ensure that developments respond positively to their context and contribute to local 
identity and heritage. The Inspector also concluded it would be contrary to the 
Successful Places supplementary planning document and paragraph 126 of the 
Framework that seeks to create high quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and 
places. 
 

50



 

The Inspector considered that the proposal would significantly change the contribution 
the appeal site provided to the significance of the Conservation area and the setting of 
the non-designated heritage assets and would result in harm to these heritage assets. 
The harm would be less than substantial harm to the character and appearance of 
the Conservation area and therefore in accordance with paragraph 202 of the 
Framework, it was necessary to weigh the harm against the public benefits of the 
proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. In doing so, 
paragraph 199 of the Framework explains that great weight should be given to the 
conservation of the designated heritage assets. Furthermore, in weighing developments 
that indirectly affect Non designated heritage assets, paragraph 203 of the Framework 
requires a balanced judgement having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the 
significance of the heritage asset. 
 
The Inspector considered the provision of one dwelling would make a contribution, 
albeit small, to the Government’s objective of boosting the supply of new homes, there 
would be some short-term employment through the construction phase of the 
development and some modest public benefits would result from the additional support 
to the local community and its services from future occupiers of the dwelling. The 
Inspector also considered there would be some public benefits associated with bringing 
the building back into use but concluded that the alterations proposed were not 
necessary to secure the future use of the building.  
 
The Inspector concluded that the harm the proposal would cause to the significance of 
the Conservation area and the significance of the setting of the non-designated heritage 
assets would not be outweighed by the modest public benefits provided by the proposal. 
On this basis the Inspector found that the development would conflict with Policies 
SC16 and SC21 of the Local Plan and the requirements of the Framework in terms of 
conserving heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance. 
 
The appeal was dismissed. 
 
Recommendation 
None 
 
The decision was made in accordance with Local plan policies. The Inspector agreed 
with the interpretation of these policies and that the existing policies relating to 
development in the Conservation area and adjacent to non-designated heritage assets 
are in line with the NPPF. 
 
Appendix 3: Appeal Ref: APP/R1010/W/23/3320946: Willow Tree Family Farm, 
Langwith Road, Shirebrook, Mansfield, Nottinghamshire NG20 8TF 
 
The application was for the erection of 2 marquees and toilets, re-surfacing of existing 
access lane in association with mixed use of the site and an extension of the family farm 
for the keeping of animals. 
 
The application was reported to Planning Committee with the following 
recommendation: 
 
The current application be referred to the Secretary of State via the National Planning 
Casework Unit with a recommendation that the application be APPROVED subject to 
the following conditions: 

51



 

 
1. The use of the former playing pitch as an extension to the town farm and the use 

of the marquees for functions which do not directly form part of the use of the site 
as a town farm must be discontinued and the land restored to its former condition 
on or before 21st December 2024 in accordance with a scheme of work 
submitted at least two months before the expiry of the permission and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

2. The use of the former playing pitch must be for the keeping of animals and 
occasional parking of vehicles in connection with the use of the site and there 
must be no permanent structures, buildings or fences erected on the site without 
the prior grant of planning permission. 
 

3. Within 28 days of the date of this decision the noise management plan set out on 
page 19 of the Noise Impact Assessment (Nova Acoustics 20.10.2022) submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority on 20th October 2022 must be implemented on 
site in full and must remain in place for the length of this permission unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

Planning Committee disagreed with the officer recommendation and refused the 
application for the following reasons: 
 

1. The proposal does not accord with any of the exceptions to Sport England's 
playing fields policy or with Paragraph 99 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework or Policy ITCR7 (Playing Pitches) in the Local Plan for Bolsover 
District (2020).  As a result the proposal will lead to the loss of an allocated 
playing field known as Shirebrook Recreation Ground, contrary to the provisions 
of the development plan. 

 
2. The noise report submitted with the application recognises there could be issues 

if the event plays music at the levels found typically with this sort of venue, and it 
proposes very low internal maximum noise limits, which are unlikely to make the 
venue viable for the proposed use. There is also no consideration of the noise 
levels from guests singing and shouting at the venue, only raised voices has 
been assessed. This is a significant source of noise at entertainment venues, 
and it is one that is not possible to reasonably mitigate given the nature of the 
venue. It is not considered possible to use reasonable and enforceable planning 
conditions that would safeguard neighbouring amenity and the proposal is 
therefore contrary to the requirements of Policy SC11 of the Local Plan for 
Bolsover District. 

 
Main Issues 
The main issues for consideration were: 

 whether the location of the development complies with the development plan, 
with particular regard to the provision of playing fields; and, 

 the effect of noise and disturbance from the development on the living conditions 
of nearby residents. 

 
Conclusion 
The Inspector considered that the proposed marquees, toilets and access track were 
located within the development envelope for the settlement and supported the local 
economy by providing accessible employment opportunities suitable for local people. 

52



 

The inspector concluded that these elements of the proposal were therefore in 
accordance with the Local Plan and were acceptable in principle. 
 
The playing pitches are located outside the development envelope, within the 
countryside where development is strictly controlled. However, development that is 
necessary for the efficient or viable operation of agriculture and agricultural 
diversification, such as the keeping of animals and occasional parking, is supported in 
the countryside by policy SS9 of the Local Plan. As the use of the playing pitches for the 
keeping of animals and parking associated with the farm park and marquees helps to 
support the farm, the Inspector considered that development also complied with this 
policy. 
 
The Inspector acknowledged that playing pitches within the district are protected from 
development by policy ITCR7 of the Local Plan. This protection extends to disused 
playing pitches such as those on site, which have not been used for sports since at 
least August 2017. The National Planning Policy Framework also advises that existing 
sports land, including playing fields, should not be built on unless they have been shown 
to be surplus to requirements, or the land would be replaced by equivalent or better 
provision. 
 
The Inspector also acknowledged that Sport England opposed the application because 
the locality had a high demand for football pitches and the Bolsover Playing Pitch 
Strategy Assessment Report (2017) found no surplus of playing field provision. With no 
replacement of the playing pitches proposed, the development was not supported by 
Sport England’s Playing Field Policy. 
 
However, the Inspector considered that in this case, the application was for a temporary 
permission for use of the playing pitches, and it would not involve the erection of any 
permanent structures. As a result, the land would still be available to return to playing 
pitches if the ongoing review of the Local Plan and associated playing field strategy, 
action plan and assessment identify that the land needed to continue to be reserved for 
sports use in the future. 
 
The Inspector concluded that whilst the development did not comply with policy ITCR7 
of the Local Plan, in that it resulted in the loss of playing fields, the loss would be 
temporary and there was currently no demand for the pitches to be brought back into 
use. Therefore, the harm that would be caused to playing field provision should the 
appeal be allowed was limited. 
 
The Inspector acknowledged that the appellant holds a licence from the Council which 
allows the marquees and outdoor area to be used for events such as weddings and the 
sale of alcohol in relation to such events, between 10am and 11pm on any day of the 
week, with the venue closing no later than midnight. As the nearest houses are 
approximately 60m to the west and 125m to the south, the potential for noise from the 
events to cause disturbance exists. 
 
The Inspector considered that as the venue has been operating for some time it was 
possible to assess the noise it creates, and a noise impact assessment had identified a 
need for a suitable noise management plan to avoid justified complaints. Given that, 
during the 2 year period the venue has been in use, approximately 150 events have 
taken place and only 2 complaints have occurred, the Inspector concluded that the 
implementation of an appropriate noise management plan should protect residents from 

53



 

noise and disturbance, and this could be secured by a condition. If the management 
plan was not adhered to, and noise disturbed neighbours, the Inspector felt the council 
could remedy this through its planning enforcement, noise nuisance and licensing 
powers. 
 
The Inspector concluded that noise from the development would not have a material 
adverse effect on the living conditions of nearby residents. As a result, the development 
complied with policy SC11 of the Local Plan which seeks to prevent harm in this regard. 
 
Access to and from Willow Tree Family Farm and the appeal site is via the 
grounds of the former education centre. The owner of the education centre stated that 
the farm has no right to use parking facilities within the site of the former centre and that 
the proposed parking facilities are inadequate. The Inspector considered that access 
and use of parking on land that is owned by another party was a matter of civil law and 
was not relevant to the consideration of the planning merits of the appeal.  
 
The Inspector considered that the parking facilities that had been provided, the parking 
available on the playing fields, in conjunction with the agreement with a neighbouring 
sports social club to provide additional spaces, was sufficient to provide adequate off 
road parking. 
 
The conclusion reached by the Inspector was that the change of use of the playing 
fields was contrary to policy ITCR7 of the Local Plan. However, the harm caused would 
be limited as the temporary permission meant that the fields would be retained and 
returned to playing pitches should they required to be in the future. Furthermore, the 
appeal scheme supported the development of Willow Tree Family Farm which is a 
valued local charity. This benefit was considered significant and in conjunction with the 
temporary nature of the permission was sufficient to outweigh the conflict that exists 
with the Local Plan. The Inspector concluded that material considerations indicated that 
the scheme should be determined other than in accordance with the development plan.  
 
The appeal was allowed subject to the following conditions which were set out in the 
committee report:  
 

1. The use of the former playing pitch as an extension to the town farm and the use 
of the marquees for functions which do not directly form part of the use of the site 
as a town farm must be discontinued and the land restored to its former condition 
on or before 21st December 2024 in accordance with a scheme of work 
submitted at least two months before the expiry of the permission and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

2. The use of the former playing pitch must be for the keeping of animals and 
occasional parking of vehicles in connection with the use of the site and there 
must be no permanent structures, buildings or fences erected on the site without 
the prior grant of planning permission. 
 

3. Within 28 days of the date of this decision the noise management plan set out on 
page 19 of the Noise Impact Assessment (Nova Acoustics 20.10.2022) submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority on 20th October 2022 must be implemented on 
site in full and must remain in place for the length of this permission unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

54



 

Recommendation 
Committee members should ensure that if they determine an application contrary to an 
officer recommendation, that decision should be restricted to planning considerations 
and should be made in accordance with the Policies in the local plan unless the report 
advises of material planning considerations which indicate otherwise. 
 

55



 

 
 
 

 
Bolsover District Council 

 
Meeting of the Planning Committee on 13th March 2024 

 
Quarterly Update on Section 106 Agreement Monitoring  

 
Report of the Portfolio Holder for Corporate Governance 

 
 

Classification 
 

This report is Public 
 

Contact Details 
 

Julie-Anne Middleditch 
Principle Planning Policy Officer 
 

 
PURPOSE / SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 

 To provide a progress report in respect of the monitoring of Section 106 
Agreements in order to give members the opportunity to assess the 
effectiveness of the Council’s monitoring procedures. 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 

REPORT DETAILS 
 
1. Background 
 
1.1 Section 106 agreements are a type of legal agreement between the Council and 

landowners / developers that are often completed alongside applications for 
planning permission for major developments. They are needed to deal with the 
additional pressures on infrastructure that result from the new development. They 
are only required where the effects of the development would otherwise be 
unacceptable in planning terms and where they cannot be dealt with by 
conditions of the planning permission. 
 

1.2 As can be observed, implementation of these Section 106 Agreements in a timely 
manner alongside the build-out of the approved developments is important as 
failure to achieve this will mean important infrastructure improvements lag behind 
the impact of the development. 
 

1.3 Furthermore, if the Council fails to spend monies provided through the Section 
106 Agreement within a set period, often within 5-years of entering into the 
agreement, there is a risk to the Council that the developer would be entitled to 
request the money back. This risk is thankfully relatively low but it is one that the 
Council must take seriously due to both the negative impact on the affected local 
community and the consequential reputational impact on the Council. 
 

1.4 To manage and mitigate this serious risk the Council has approved a procedure 
for recording and monitoring Section 106 Agreements. The most recent version 

56

Agenda Item 7



 

of this was approved by Planning Committee in September 2022 and it governs 
the work of the Council’s cross-departmental Section 106 Monitoring Group.  
 

1.5 Following the quarterly Section 106 Monitoring Group meeting, officers provide a 
progress report to the Planning Committee in respect of the monitoring of Section 
106 Agreements. In line with the approved Procedure this progress report is 
required to highlight any sums at risk of clawback that need spending within 24 
months, as well as a summary of the sums being held by infrastructure type that 
are in years three, four and five. Accordingly, this report is the quarterly progress 
report following the meeting of the Section 106 Monitoring Group held on 18th 
January 2024. 

 
 
2. Details of Proposal or Information 
 
2.1 The Council’s Section 106 Agreement Monitoring Procedure requires sums within 

24 months of their deadline to be highlighted for Member’s attention. 
 

2.2 Members will recall that in the report provided in November, eight sums were 
identified as being within their 24-month deadline as of 24th October 2023. 
 

2.3 As of the Monitoring Group meeting on 18th January 2024 there are seven sums 
within their 24-month deadlines (details below). 
 
Spend Date within 12 months (by 18th January 2024) 

Action 

Plan 

Finance 

Spreadsheet  

Site Infrastructure 

and amount 

Amount 

remaining 

Date 

Item 9 Line 85 Rosewood 

Lodge Farm 

South 

Normanton 

Outdoor Sport 

(£43,548.85) 

£20,460.85 

No 

change 

21.05.24 

Item 10 Line 85 Rosewood 

Lodge Farm 

South 

Normanton 

Health 

(£80,141.59) 

£80,141.59 

No 

change 

21.05.24 

Item 17 Line 83 Mansfield 

Road, 

Tibshelf 

Outdoor Sport 

(£164,153) 

£163,003 

Reduced 

20.12.24 

  

 

 

 

 

57



 

Spend Date within 2 years (by 18th January 2025) 

Action 

Plan 

Finance 

Spreadsheet  

Site Infrastructure 

and amount 

Amount 

remaining 

Date 

19 Line 89 Oxcroft 

Lane , 

Bolsover 

Outdoor Sport 

(£125,336.69) 

£123,614.19 

Reduced  

 

10.03.25 

20 Line 87 Station 

Road, 

Langwith 

Junction 

Open Space 

(£52,000) 

£64.23 

Committed  

30.01.25 

21 Line 91 High Ash 

Farm, 

Clowne 

Open Space 

(£10,184.39) 

£10,184.39 

No change 

19.3.25 

22 Line 88 Station 

Road, 

Langwith 

Junction 

Health 

(£16,000) 

£16,000   

No change 

30.1.25 

 
2.4 Members will note that since the quarterly update report presented to October’s 

meeting of the Planning Committee the Outdoor Sport allocation from Mansfield 
Road Tibshelf has now come within the 12-month spending threshold. The 
allocation has however been reduced with the spend of £1,150 towards the cost 
of a topographic survey. 
 

2.5 Since the last Planning Committee there has been further spending against the 
Outdoor Sport allocation from the development at Oxcroft Lane Bolsover to provide 
a Skatepark at Hornscroft Park. A further £827.50 has been spent comprising £474 
on additional planning fee (uplift from outline to full application) and £353.50 for 
earthworks modelling. To date a total of £1,722.50 has been spent from this 
allocation.  
 

2.6 At the time of the Monitoring Group meeting in January the residual sum from the 
Open Space allocation at Station Road Langwith junction was committed. Since 
the meeting this has been paid. This item is therefore now removed from the Action 
plan.  
 

2.7 Other than this, the amounts remaining are the same as reported to October’s 
meeting. There are no further allocations that have come within the 2-year 
threshold. 

 
2.8 The updates for the above items as recorded at the Section 106 Monitoring Group 

are set out below for Member’s information. 
 

58



 

(CADO = Community Arts Development Officer; LSPO = Leisure Special Projects Officer; PPPO = 
Principal Planning Policy Officer; IHPP = Interim Head of Planning Policy; CLE = Chartered Legal 
Executive; PPDM = Principal Planner Development Management; PA= Principal Accountant; HOL 
= Head of Leisure; DMCO = Development Management Case Officer); P&SM = Partnership and 
Strategy Manager) 
 

Item 
 

Development site, relevant S106 sum and 
spend by date 
 

Responsible 
officer 

6 Rosewood Lodge Farm – Outdoor Sport 
£34,584.85 (21.05.25)  
 
Action from previous quarterly meeting 
Revisit S106 Agreement 
Two weekly updates 
Further Action under item 3 Finance Monitoring 
 
Updates since the last meeting 
With under 12 months left to spend, the discussion 
at the last meeting related to the fire damage of the 
canopy that was to be part funded by the S106 
monies. Since that meeting, the Parish Council 
confirmed their intention to replace the canopy 
under their insurance. The canopy is to be taken 
down during 18th and 19th January and a new 
canopy will be installed at around the end of 
February.  
 
Meeting update 
Once the new canopy is installed, the transfer of 
monies to the Parish Council will be undertaken. 
The monies will come from this S106 and from 
remaining monies from Thornhill Drive Sports 
allocation.  
 
Agreed Action. 
LSPO to confirm to PPPO the amounts of monies 
from each source.  
Item to be removed from Action Plan once 
payment made to the Parish Council 
 

LSPO 
 
 
 
CLE 
LSPO/PPPO 
LSPO 
 
 
LSPO 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
LSPO 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PPPO/LSPO 
 
ALL 
 
 

7 Rosewood Lodge Farm – Health £80,141.59 
(21.05.24) 
 
Action from previous quarterly meeting 
Report to the next meeting 
 
Updates since the last meeting 
There is 4 months remaining to the spending 
deadline. At the last meeting it was reported that 
the Integrated Care Board had agreed to utilise the 
allocation from this and the allocation from 

SDLPPSG&H 
 
 
SDLPPSG&H 
 
 
 
SDLPPSG&H 
 
 
 

59



 

Thornhill Drive, South Normanton to pay for an 
internal reconfiguration of the Limes Medical 
Centre in nearby Alfreton. 
 
At the reporting of the previous update to Planning 
Committee, Members expressed concern that the 
infrastructure improvements were not within 
Bolsover District. The Integrated Care Board have 
since confirmed that the residents of both South 
Normanton and Pinxton are patients of the Alfreton 
surgery.  
 
The ICB are going to revisit the potential for 
improvements to the surgery at Pinxton, before 
submitting the Project Implementation Document.  
 
Meeting update 
Written update from SDLPPSG&H about 
correspondence with the Integrated Care Board 
(ICB) to investigate the point around whether the 
improvements to the Limes Medical Centre in 
Alfreton would satisfactorily provide the capacity 
needed for South Normanton residents, and 
whether it would be possible to direct the S106 
sums to improvements at the Village Surgery in 
Pinxton at this late stage.  
 
In relation to the first point, data provided by the 
ICB shows: 
 

 Limes Medical Centre has 2,136 S 
Normanton and 231 Pinxton residents 
registered on its patient list; 

 Village Surgery in South Normanton has 
3,754 S Normanton and 3,238 Pinxton 
residents registered on its patient list. 

 
This is considered to demonstrate that 
improvements at the Limes Medical Centre would 
significantly support the needs of South Normanton 
residents. 
 
Despite this, the ICB advised that they would have 
a second look at options for the Village Surgery in 
Pinxton before progressing the Project 
Implementation Document and submitting this to 
the Council to draw down the S106 sum. 
 
Agreed Action. 
CLE to check the terms of the S106 as a priority 
and discuss with PPPO.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CLE 
 
 
 
 
SDLPPSG&H 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CLE 
 
 
 

60



 

Update. 
CLE confirmation that the S106 wording is “to 
provide additional health facilities in the vicinity of 
the Development as required as a consequence of 
the Development”. CLE of the view that this is wide 
enough to cover surrounding areas as necessary. 
 
The ICB has confirmed that the potential for 
improvements to the surgery at Pinxton is not 
unfortunately possible at this time and so the 
internal reconfiguration of the Limes Medical 
Centre to provide additional capacity will need to 
proceed. On this basis, the Project Implementation 
Document will shortly be submitted to draw down 
the funds and get them committed before the 
spend deadline. 
 

 
CLE 
 
 
 
 
 
SDLPPSG&H 
 

12 Mansfield Road, Tibshelf – Outdoor Sport 
£164,153 (20.12.24) 
 
Action from previous quarterly meeting 
LSPO to provide monthly updates on progress to 
PPPO. 
 
 
Updates since last meeting 
There has been significant progress by LSPO on 
this since the last meeting, when LSPO was due to 
meet with the Parish Council to discuss three 
potential projects. At that time these were’  

 an extension of the existing pavilion,  

 pitch improvements, and  

 the Installation of a multi-use games area 
(MUGA)  

 
In the time after this meeting the Parish Council 
broadened the consideration on going out to public 
consultation. The final project agreed by the Parish 
Council comprises a number of pieces of play 
equipment: 
 

 A Zip wire, 

 A Small skate park/ramp, 

 An improved play area for younger children 

 Youth shelters 

 An extra basketball/football net facility 

 A climbing net web 

 And a path extension, to access the 
facilities. 

 
LSPO has since met with suppliers and is due to 
go out to tender by the end of the month.  

LSPO 
 
 
 
LSPO/PPPO 
 
 
 
 
LSPO 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

61



 

 
Meeting update 
The Parish Council have further extended the 
works that they wish to be undertaken to include 
enhancing existing paths and other minor 
improvements. These works will be put out to 
tender separately. With progress to date, it is 
anticipated that the spending of the allocation sum 
will fall within the spending deadline. 
 
Agreed Action 
Monthly updates  
 

 
 
LSPO 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
LSPO/PPPO 

14 Oxcroft Lane, Bolsover – Outdoor Sport 
£125,336.69 (10.03.25) 
 
Action from previous quarterly meeting 
LSPO to report to next meeting. 
 
Updates since last meeting 
An allocation that will contribute to new skatepark 
at Hornscroft Park. Since the meeting the planning 
application has been approved. Work should start 
on site as anticipated in early 2024.  
 
Meeting update 
Archaeological recording required by Derbyshire 
County Council. Archaeologist will be on site in 
February. Contractor is lined up for 25th March. 
Construction should be underway or thereabouts 
by the time of the next Monitoring Group meeting.  
 
Agreed Action 
LSPO to report to next meeting. 
 

LSPO 
 
 
 
LSPO 
 
 
LSPO 
 
 
 
 
 
LSPO 
 
 
 
 
 
 
LSPO 

16 High Ash Farm, Clowne – Open Space 
£10,184.39 (19.03.25)  
 
Action from Previous Quarterly Meeting 
LSPO to provide monthly updates on progress to 
PPPO. 
 
Updates since last meeting 
Since the last Monitoring group meeting LSPO has 
had a further meeting with Clowne Parish Council 
to discuss the area in front of Dominos on North 
Road. The discussion centred around the 
possibility of a community consultation, with a 
request for design ideas. It is planned that this will 
take place in the next couple of months. 
 
 

LSPO 

 

LSPO/PPPO 

 

 

LSPO 

 

 

 

62



 

Meeting update 
LSPO met with the Parish Council in November 
and discussed a community consultation, possibly 
a design competition. LSPO to work with the PC in 
progressing this over the next couple of months. 
 
Agreed Action 
Monthly update 
 

LSPO 

 

 

LSPO/PPPO 

16 High Ash Farm, Clowne – Open Space 
£10,184.39 (19.03.25)  
 
Action from Previous Quarterly Meeting 
LSPO to provide monthly updates on progress to 
PPPO. 
 
Updates since last meeting 
Since the last Monitoring group meeting LSPO has 
had a further meeting with Clowne Parish Council 
to discuss the area in front of Dominos on North 
Road. The discussion centred around the 
possibility of a community consultation, with a 
request for design ideas. It is planned that this will 
take place in the next couple of months. 
 
 
Meeting update 
LSPO met with the PC in November and discussed 
a community consultation, possibly a design 
competition. LSPO to work with the Parish Council 
in progressing this over the next couple of months. 
 
Agreed Action 
Monthly update 
 

LSPO 
 
 
 
LSPO/PPPO 
 
 
 
LSPO 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
LSPO 
 
 
 
 
 
LSPO/PPPO 

17 Station Road, Langwith Junction – Health 
£16,000 (30.01.25) 
 
Action from Previous Quarterly Meeting 
SDLPPSG&H / PPPO to chase progress from the 
ICB. 
 
Updates since last meeting 
No further update from previous last meeting when 
SDLPPSG&H advised that the Integrated Care 
Board (ICB) were in contact to advise that they 
were in discussions with the Langwith Medical 
Centre to develop a scheme. On this basis, the 
ICB confirmed that they would be able to spend the 
£16,000 well before the January 2025 deadline. 
 
 

SDLPPSG&H 
 
 
 
SDLPPSG&H 
 
 
 
SDLPPSG&H 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

63



 

Update at meeting 
No further update. 
 
Agreed Action 
Report to the next meeting 
 

 
 
 
SDLPPSG&H 

 
2.9 These updates demonstrate the monitoring carried out by Planning Officers and 

the progress being made by Spending Officers to ensure that S106 monies are 
spent in a timely manner alongside the build-out of the approved developments. 
However, in line with the Council’s S106 Agreement Monitoring Procedure the 
relevant Spending Officers will be in attendance at the Committee to answer any 
questions to Members on the above Action Plan items. 
 

2.10 In addition to these time sensitive items, the Procedure requires that Members are 
provided with summary information in relation to Section 106 Agreement monies 
held with deadlines beyond the 24-month period. Based on the position at the end 
of Quarter 3 (31st December 2023), the following ‘summary of sums’ can be 
provided for years three, four and five. 

 

Infrastructure type Amount in later years 
  

Year 3  Year 4 
Year 5 and 

beyond 

Art 
£20,933.45 £12,695.12 £477.46 

    (no clawback) 

Outdoor Sport 

£64,089.90 £48,723.75 £220,025.69 

    

(of which, no 
clawback 

against 
£32,867.69) 

Informal Open 
Space 

£30,400.07 £116,794.50 £109,359.00 

Health 

£11,784.56 £0 £60,316.90 

    

(of which, no 
clawback 

against 
£12,277.20) 

Highways 
£0 £0 £569,000.00 

    (no clawback) 

Biodiversity £0 £0 £8,029.96 

  £127,207.98 £178,213.37 £967,209.01 

  
2.11 The spend profiles for Health, Highways and Biodiversity remain the same as 

for the previous financial quarter. Sums against Outdoor Sport in year 5 have 
increased with the allocation received from the development at Glapwell 
Nurseries. Sums against Open Space in year 5 have also increased with the 
allocation received from the development at Mooracre Lane, Bolsover.  

 
 

64



 

3. Reasons for Recommendation 
 
3.1 The implementation of Section 106 Agreements in a timely manner is essential to 

achieving sustainable growth across the District and protecting the quality of life 
for the District’s residents and businesses. 
 

3.2 As a result, it is important that Members receive information about the progress 
being made by the various Council departments to deliver Section 106 
Agreements and to give Members the opportunity to assess the effectiveness of 
the monitoring procedures. 
 

3.3 It is recommended that Members note the contents of the latest monitoring report 
and highlight any concerns about the implementation of the Section 106 
Agreements listed. 

 
 
4 Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 Providing a progress report in respect of the monitoring of Section 106 Agreements 

to Planning Committee addresses recommendations made in recent Audit reports 
and recommendations of Members of the Planning Committee as set out in the 
Council’s procedure for recording and monitoring Section 106 Agreements. 
Therefore, officers have not considered alternative options. 

 
__________________________________________________________________ 
 
RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
That Planning Committee note the contents of the report and highlight any 
concerns about the implementation of the Section 106 Agreements listed. 
 

Approved by Council McGregor, Portfolio Holder – Corporate Governance 
 
 

IMPLICATIONS; 
 

Finance and Risk:   Yes☒  No ☐  

Details: If obligations required to make a development acceptable in planning terms 
aren’t properly discharged then there is a risk of harm to the Council’s reputation and 
public confidence in the Council’s decision taking. If financial contributions are not 
spent within a defined period then the money has to be returned to the developer 
and normally returned with interest. Therefore, there are finance and risk 
implications if procedures for recording and monitoring Section 106 Agreements are 
not sufficiently robust. 

On behalf of the Section 151 Officer 
 

Legal (including Data Protection):   Yes☐  No ☒  

Details: There are no data protection implications insofar as Section 106 
Agreements are part of the statutory planning register and are therefore public 
documents. Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides the 
legal framework for the acceptance and discharge of the Section 106 Agreements 

65



 

and the Council’s approved procedure addresses the key legislative provisions of 
this section of the 1990 Act. 

On behalf of the Solicitor to the Council 
 

Environment:  Yes☐  No ☒   

Please identify (if applicable) how this proposal / report will help the Authority meet 
its carbon neutral target or enhance the environment. 
Details: Section 106 Agreements cover a range of policy and infrastructure 
requirements, albeit they do not specifically contribute to this subject.  
 

Staffing:  Yes☐  No ☒   

Details: There are no human resources implications arising from this report. 
 

On behalf of the Head of Paid Service 

 
 
DECISION INFORMATION 
 

Is the decision a Key Decision? 
A Key Decision is an executive decision which has a significant impact 
on two or more District wards or which results in income or expenditure 
to the Council above the following thresholds:  
 

Revenue - £75,000   ☐  Capital - £150,000  ☐ 

☒ Please indicate which threshold applies 

 

No 

Is the decision subject to Call-In? 
(Only Key Decisions are subject to Call-In) 

No 
 

 

District Wards Significantly Affected All 
 

Consultation: 

Leader / Deputy Leader ☒   Executive ☐ 

SLT ☐ Relevant Service Manager ☐ 

Members ☐   Public ☐ Other ☐ 

 

No 
 
 

 

Links to Council Ambition: Customers, Economy and Environment. 
 

 Enabling housing growth; 

 Developing attractive neighbourhoods; 

 Increasing customers satisfaction with our services. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

66



 

DOCUMENT INFORMATION 

Appendix 
No 

Title 

  

Background Papers 

(These are unpublished works which have been relied on to a material extent when 
preparing the report.  They must be listed in the section below.  If the report is going 
to Executive you must provide copies of the background papers). 

 

67


	Agenda
	5 22/00402/FUL - Full planning application comprising proposed link road between Shuttlewood Road and Oxcroft Lane, including demolition of Boleappleton Farm and associated outbuildings, ground level changes, and construction of 161 dwellings with public open spaces, access routes, landscaping and associated works - Land South West Of Brockley Wood Oxcroft Lane Bolsover
	6 Appeal Decisions: July 2023 - December 2023
	7 Quarterly Update on S106 Agreement Monitoring

